

Australian Government

Department of Agriculture and Water Resources



Trends in environmental impacts from the pork industry

Final Report APL Project 2017/2212

December 2018

Integrity Ag and Environment

K. Watson, S. Wiedemann, L. Biggs, and E. McGahan 36a Highfields Road Highfields QLD 4352

Disclaimer: The opinions, advice and information contained in this publication have not been provided at the request of any person but are offered by Australian Pork Limited (APL) solely for informational purposes. While APL has no reason to believe that the information contained in this publication is inaccurate, APL is unable to guarantee the accuracy of the information and, subject to any terms implied by law which cannot be excluded, accepts no responsibility for loss suffered as a result of any party's reliance on the accuracy or currency of the content of this publication. The information contained in this publication should not be relied upon for any purpose, including as a substitute for professional advice. Nothing within the publication constitutes an express or implied warranty, or representation, with respect to the accuracy or currency of the publication, any future matter or as to the value of or demand for any good.

Acknowledgements

This project is supported by funding from Australian Pork Limited and the Department of Agriculture and Water Resources.

We acknowledge Sunpork, Rivalea and Australian pork industry experts who assisted with data and understanding of past and current developments in pork production. Dr Sara Willis of DAF Queensland is acknowledged for her assistance and input into historic Australian pig diets. Dr Roger Campbell of Pork CRC and Dr Ken Casey of Texas A&M AgriLife Research and Extension Center are acknowledged for their assistance and input with Australian pork industries historic performance and trends.

Executive Summary

Over the past four decades, major changes have occurred in Australia's pork industry, affecting productivity and the environmental impacts from production. Using a life cycle assessment (LCA) approach with a 'cradle-to-farm gate' boundary, the changes in greenhouse gas (GHG) emission intensity and key resource use efficiency indicators (fresh water consumption, water stress, fossil fuel energy demand and land occupation) were determined at decade intervals between 1980 and 2010. Results for 2020 were projected from trends identified in the 1980 to 2017 data. Impacts were reported per kilogram of pork (live weight – LW) produced in each decade.

The analysis showed that over the four decades since 1980 there has been a decrease in GHG emission intensity, excluding land use (LU) and direct land use change (dLUC) emissions, of 69% from 10.6 to 3.3 kg CO2-e kg liveweight (LW)-1. GHG emissions associated with LU and dLUC were estimated to have declined by 89% since 1980. Fresh water consumption decreased from 441 L kg LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 90 L kg LW-1 in 2020. Water stress followed a similar trend, decreasing from 287 L H2O-e LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 57 L H2O-e LW-1 in 2020. Fossil energy use decreased from 34 MJ kg LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 14 MJ kg LW-1 in 2020. Land occupation decreased by 63% from 31 m2 kg LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 11 m2 kg LW-1 in 2020.

Improvements were principally driven by improved herd productivity, changes in housing and manure management, and improved feed production systems. In the pig production system, improved herd and system efficiency led to improved feed conversion ratio, resulting in lower feed requirements, and reduced manure production. This was partly also associated with reduced feed wastage, which had a disproportionally larger effect on reducing manure GHG emissions.

Concurrently, improvements in feed grain production systems resulted in lower impacts per tonne of feed grain produced. This was related to reduced tillage, higher yields and a decrease in the proportion of irrigation water used for grain production. This paper discusses the prospects and challenges for further reductions in greenhouse gas intensity and gains in resource use efficiency for Australian pork production. This study has shown that ongoing changes and improvements in production efficiency have resulted in large gains in environmental performance in the Australian pork industry.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Executive Summary	3
I Introductory Technical Information	8
2 Research Methodology	10
 2.1 Materials and methods 2.1.1 Goal and scope 2.1.2 Inventory data 2.1.3 Handling multi-functionality 3 Results 	10 10 10 15 16
 3.1 Trends in Australian pig production 3.1.1 Herd productivity 3.1.2 Housing and manure management systems 3.1.3 Trends in environmental impacts and resource use 4 Discussion 	16 16 17 17 21
4.1 The influence of changes in herd productivity	21
4.2 The influence of housing and MMS changes	22
4.3 The influence of feed production changes	23
4.4 Comparison with literature	25
 4.5 Implications to the Australian pork industry 4.5.1 Herd productivity improvements 4.5.2 Optimised diets 4.5.3 Optimised biogas 	26 27 27 28
4.6 Limitations5 Implications & Recommendations	28 29
5.1 Conclusions	29
 5.2 Recommendations 5.2.1 Research and Development 5.2.2 Communications 6 Literature cited 	29 29 30 32
7 Appendix I – Supporting Information	42
7.1 Herd inventory data	42
7.2 Herd productivity7.2.1 National standard diets	47 47
7.3 Housing and manure management systems7.3.1 Housing definitions7.3.2 Emissions factors	51 51 51
7.4 Feed production data	52
7.5 General services, water and energy	55

4

7.5.I	Electricity generation data	55
7.5.2	Direct Piggery Water Use	56
7.6	Soil carbon and land use change	58
7.7	References	58

List of Tables

Table I National pig herd data based on Australian primary data	10
Table 2 National Australian pig herd performance data	П
Table 3 Ration components and diet properties for pig feed over the time period 1980 to 2020	12
Table 4 Proportion of manure treated in different manure management systems in the Australian herd from 1980 to 2020	13
Table 5 Aggregated general services and energy inputs for national pig production (on-farm) for eaderade from 1980 to 2020.	ach I4
Table 6 1980 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources	42
Table 7 1990 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources	44
Table 8 2000 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources	45
Table 9 2010 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources	45
Table 10 2020 Australian pig her performance data and data sources	46
Table SI I Tonnes of soybean imported and source in 1980, 1990, 2000, 2010, 2020 (OEC, 2018)	49
Table SI 2 Lupin and field pea meals diet modifiers used in study	49
Table SI 3 SAA diet modifiers	50
Table SI 4 Feed presentation proportions for the national Australian pig herd from 1980-2020	51
Table SI 5 Piggery livestock greenhouse gas parameters	51
Table SI 6 Australian energy supply source for electricity production	55
Table SI 7 Piggery water resources the Australian national herd	56
Table SI 8 Percent of cleaning flushing water supplied from recycled effluent over 1980 to 2020	56
Table SI 9 Summary of drinking water intake by pig class	57
Table SI 10 Drinking water wastage modifiers over 1980 to 2020	57
Table SI 11 Water use by piggery type	58

List of Figures

Figure 1 Herd productivity improvements in the Australian pig herd over the period 1980 to 2020
Figure 2 Changes in manure management systems over the period 1980 to 2020 for the Australian pig herd
Figure 3 Changes in greenhouse gases emissions (excluding LU and dLUC) from the production ofIkg of live weight pork over the period 1980 to 202018
Figure 4 Changes in fossil energy use from the production of 1kg of live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020
Figure 5 Changes in water consumption (A) and water stress (B) from the production of 1kg live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020
Figure 6 Changes in land use from the production of 1kg live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020
Figure 7 Changes in grain production systems over the period 1980 to 2020 25
Figure SI I Total tonnes of soybean imported into Australia from 1964 to 2017 (Index Mundi, 2018) 48
Figure SI 2 Historical Australian fertiliser and herbicide use relative to 2010 year base 53
Figure SI 3 Historical Australian crop yield relative to 2010 base year53
Figure SI 4 Historical Australian crop tillage events per hectare per year 54
Figure SI 5 Percentage of Australian crop yield from irrigated crop land 55

I Introductory Technical Information

In response to increased demand for pork, global production increased by a factor of 4.5 between 1961 and 2014, from 24.8 to 112.3 million tonnes (Ritchie and Roser, 2018). The OECD (2018) estimates that an average of 117,354 kilo-tonnes of pig meat were consumed globally each year between 2015 to 2017, with consumption projected to increase by a further10.2% by 2027. This historic increase in pork consumption, and projected future increase in consumption, raises the importance of understanding environmental impacts from pork production and how these impacts have changed over time. Globally, livestock production accounts for 14.5% of anthropogenic emissions of greenhouse gases (GHGs) (Gerber et al., 2013), with pork supply chain emitting approximately 0.7 gigatonnes CO2-eq per annum, equating to 9% of the livestock sectors' total emissions (MacLeod et al., 2013). This is slightly higher than chicken production combined (4.6 gig-tonnes CO2-e per annum), but significantly lower than beef and bovine dairy production combined (4.6 gig-tonnes CO2-e per annum) (Gerber et al., 2013).

In Australia, pig production has transitioned from small farm enterprises to large scale, specialist pig farming operations in the second half of last century (Gardner et al., 1990), which has profoundly influenced production efficiency (e.g. weaning rates, live weight produced per sow, average daily gain (ADG) and feed conversion ratio FCR) and potentially the environmental impacts of the industry. The pork industry has increased total production substantially since 1980, primarily because slaughter numbers and slaughter weights have increased (ABS, 2018b) despite breeding herd numbers remaining fairly constant (ABS, 1999, ABS, 2001, ABS, 2012a, ABS, 2018a). This demonstrates a substantial improvement in herd productivity, with more pigs per sow being produced, and higher turnoff of pork relative to breeder numbers. Recent analyses have shown that pork production is continuing to increase, and this trend is expected over the next five years (ABARES, 2017), though recent grain prices may delay this trend.

Herd productivity, and particularly feed conversion ratio, is a key driver of change in environmental impact. Wiedemann et al. (2016b) showed that production efficiency, and specifically whole herd FCR, explained 88% of the variation in GHG emissions from conventional Australian piggeries using the same manure management system (MMS). The strong association with whole herd FCR can be explained because this factor influences both upstream impacts associated with feed production, and downstream impacts associated with manure emissions. Whole herd FCR is also an aggregate indicator, being influenced by many herd production factors including weaning rate and growth rates, and also by system efficiency factors such as the proportion of feed wasted. Wiedemann et al. (2017) showed feed production was the largest contributor to water, energy and land resource use associated with Australian pork production, further highlighting the importance of feed conversion ratio as the most important production metric for reducing the resource use. Further to this, Reckmann and Krieter (2015) and Nguyen et al. (2010) variously demonstrated that improved feed conversion ratio, improved breeding efficiency, improved growth rates and increased turn-off weight reduced environmental impacts per kilogram of pork produced. Noya et al (2017) has proposed several feeding strategies to reduce environmental impacts of pork, of which the introduction of local ingredients seemed the most promising alternative. Nguyen et al., (2010) and Groen et al. (2016) showed that fossil energy use and GHG emissions associated with pork production could be reduced by taking improvement measures in feed use and manure management practices. Furthermore, pig housing and manure management systems (MMS) substantially influence the levels of GHG emissions emitted by pork production (Philippe and Nicks, 2015, Chadwick et al., 2011,

Wiedemann et al., 2016b), suggesting that changes in these areas will also influence impacts from pork production.

There have been several studies investigating environmental trends in livestock production systems. These studies include beef (Capper, 2011, Wiedemann et al., 2015), sheep (Benoit and Dakpo, 2012), dairy (Capper et al., 2009) and pork production (Vergé et al., 2009, Boyd et al., 2012). Wiedemann et al. (2015) showed a 14% decrease in GHG emission intensity, 42% decrease in land use (LU) and direct land use change (dLUC) emissions, 65% decrease in water consumption and 19% decrease in land occupation associated with Australian beef production, over the three decades since 1981. However, fossil energy use increased by 186% over the same time period in response to intensification of the beef industry. Reductions in GHG emissions were largely due to efficiency gains through heavier slaughter weights, increases in growth rates in grass-fed cattle, improved survival rates and greater numbers of cattle being finished on grain, which increased growth rate and slaughter weight.

A similar trends analysis of Australian pork production has not been done, and consequently there is a knowledge gap around the change in impacts over time and the major influences on environmental impacts in the industry. Using an LCA approach, the present study investigated the trend in environmental performance of the Australian pork industry, focusing on GHG emissions and resource use in 10-year intervals from 1980 to 2010, and projected impacts for 2020.

2 Research Methodology

2.1 Materials and methods

2.1.1 Goal and scope

This study was an attributional LCA investigation of the environmental impacts of national Australian pork production from 1980 to 2020, to determine trends in environmental impacts and changes that have affected environmental performance over the past four decades. The study was completed to provide this information to the pork industry, research community and the general public.

The study investigated GHG emissions using the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) AR4 global warming potentials of 25 for CH₄ and 298 for N₂O (Solomon et al., 2007) as applied in the Australian National Inventory Report (Commonwealth of Australia, 2015). GHG emissions arising from land use (LU) and direct land use change (dLUC) were calculated and reported separately following the guidance of ISO/TS 14067. Energy demand was assessed using the fossil fuel energy demand method (Frischknecht et al., 2007), and fresh water consumption and water stress (Pfister et al., 2009) were also assessed. Modelling was conducted using SimaPro 8.5 (Pré-Consultants, 2018).

System boundaries and reference flow

The study examined the primary production system (i.e. cradle to farm gate) using a reference flow of one kilogram of live weight (LW) on-farm, immediately prior to processing. The pig production system included production of feed ingredients and all on-farm processes involved in the production of pigs through to being ready for meat processing. The herd was modelled at 10 year intervals, with each period reflecting production from the preceding two years.

2.1.2 Inventory data

2.1.2.1 Australian national herd data

A model of the Australian pig herd was developed for each time period using national herd statistics (see Table 1) and herd performance data (Table 2). Herd numbers were accessed from the annual survey of Australian farms (ABS, 1999, ABS, 2001, ABS, 2012a, ABS, 2018a), which included breeder and grower pig numbers. Data were averaged for two-year intervals at the end of each decade, to smooth market fluctuations. An independent dataset of the total number of pigs slaughtered, and total carcass weight (ABS, 2018b) was available to determine the total output of the herd.

Category	Units	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020 °
Total sow numbers ^a	Pig/yr	272273	301539	264337	236936	225002
Total boar numbers ^a	Pig/yr	21066	21745	15977	9240	5678
Total slaughter pigs ^b	Pig/yr	3784400	4944600	5025950	4558400	4959657
Total slaughter weight produced (Dressed Weight, DW) ^b	Tonne	211636	314741	363282	331203	389187

Table 1 National pig herd data based on Australian primary data

^a (ABS, 1999, ABS, 2001, ABS, 2012a, ABS, 2018a), ^b (ABS, 2018b), ^c projected from 1980-2017 data.

2.1.2.2 Herd performance, diets, and feed use

Based on the national inventory numbers and a parameterised herd model, a livestock balance was developed for the Australian pig herd. Inventory data (Table I) provided the total number of breeding pigs, and the total output in terms of numbers and carcase weight. Using parameters collected from industry surveys (Cleary and Ransley, 1994, Cleary and Meo, 1997, Cleary and Meo, 1999a, Cleary and Meo, 2000, Cleary and Godfrey, 2002, Cleary et al., 2003, McElhone and Philip, 2004, McElhone and Philip, 2005, Dowling, 2006, Walsh and Bottari, 2008, APL, 2010, APL, 2011, APL, 2012, Wiedemann et al., 2016b, Wiedemann et al., 2017), a livestock balance was developed for the herd that accounted for breeder mortality, breeder replacement rates and herd FCR of pigs from birth to slaughter. The average age of finisher pigs was determined by dividing average sale weight minus birth weight, by average daily gain (ADG). Pigs sold per sow per year was assumed to be the total number of pigs slaughtered divided by the total number of sows (both reported in Table 1).

Feed intake and diets were determined for each decade for each major production region in Australia, via consultation with industry nutritionists. Feed waste estimates were determined from Willis (1999), Taylor and Clark (1990) and Roese (1990). Four standard diets were modelled for the main production regions in the national herd, after Skerman et al. (2015). Diet A was considered representative of the NSW and VIC region and Diet B was used for the QLD region. Diet D was considered representative of the WA region; however, the mung bean diet component was replaced by lupins, which was more representative of data collected by the authors from major WA piggeries (S. G. Wiedemann, unpubl. data). Diet D was also considered representative of the SA region; however, the mung bean component was replaced by field peas, which was more representative of data collected by the authors from major UA piggeries in this region (S. G. Wiedemann, unpubl. data). State diets were aggregated to produce national rations (Table 3). Historic diets were determined by consulting with industry nutritionists (for further detail refer to Supporting Information, Section: National standard diets). Using these data, the herd was modelled each decade using Pigbal 4 (Skerman et al. 2015) to determine feed use, FCR and average daily gain (ADG).

Category	Units	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020 °
Weaning age ^a	days	34.3	24.5	21	23.2	22.3
Litters per sow per year ^a	#	2.1	2.2	2.2	2.3	2.3
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year ^a	#	19.6	22.9	22.6	24.8	25.8
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year ^a	#	14.7	19.9	19.4	21.5	23.1
Pigs sold per Sow per Year ª	#	13.9	16.4	19.0	19.2	22.0
Liveweight sold per sow per year ^b	kg	1022.4	1373.7	1807.9	1839.5	2276.3
Average sale weight of finisher pigs ^c	kg	75	84.9	96	95.6	103
Average age of finisher pigs ^c	days	144	146	161	150	138
Average daily gain (wean- finisher slaughter) ^d	gram/day	500	568	586	636	693

Table 2 National Australian pig herd performance data

FCR (grower herd) ^d	FCR	3.5	3.1	2.9	2.5	2.3
FCR (whole herd) ^a	FCR	5.19	4.4	3.6	3.2	2.9

^a Literature value derived from multiple sources, see supporting information, ^b ABS (2018b), ABS (1999, 2001, 2012a, 2018a), ^c (ABS, 2018b), ABS (2017) dressing percentage was altered by 0.5% between decades from 74.5% in 1980 to 76.5% in 2020, ^d modelling using PigBal (Skerman et al. 2015), ^e projected from results for 1980-2017.

Table 3 Ration components and diet properties for pig feed over the time period 1980 to 2020

Note: diets represent a weighted average of breeder, weaner, and grower finisher diets, averaged across all major production regions

Ration component	Unit	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020
Barley	%	10.84	17.55	19.96	22.13	22.01
Sorghum	%	16.19	12.34	10.72	14.31	14.26
Wheat	%	48.38	47.19	49.75	45.14	45.48
Lupins	%	1.79	2.05	2.64	1.54	1.44
Field peas	%	2.75	3.7	3.91	3.34	3.11
Bloodmeal	%	2.07	0.93	1.12	1.10	1.10
Meat and bone meal	%	11.55	8.93	3.62	2.83	2.72
Canola meal	%	0.0	0.6	1.0	3.2	3.8
Soymeal	%	0.5	2.08	3.8	3.4	2.9
Other protein meal	%	3.57	2.37	1.2	0.5	0.5
Vegetable oil	%	0.86	0.82	0.48	0.37	0.36
Low-cost additives	%	1.34	1.19	1.44	1.44	1.43
High-cost additives	%	0.16	0.25	0.36	0.70	0.89
Feed dry matter	%	89.02	88.8	88.47	88.48	88.54
Diet ash	%	6.71	5.78	4.40	4.18	4.19
Crude protein	%	19.64	18.36	17.24	16.82	16.86
Dry matter digestibility (DMD)	%	76.94	79.46	81.72	83.31	84.24
Feed wastage	%	19.4	15.7	11.4	7.9	7.4

2.1.2.3 Australian pig housing and manure management systems

The proportion of pigs across Australia produced in different housing types influences resource use and the type of manure management system (MMS) used, with both being significant contributing factors to GHG emission intensity and resource use. In Australia, pig housing can be categorised into three broad types: outdoor, conventional and deep litter (Wiedemann et al., 2016b). As shown in Table 4, outdoor housing has one MMS, deep litter housing has a limited number of MMS, while conventional housing can have several different MMS, including: effluent ponds, anaerobic digesters, short hydraulic retention time (HRT) storage systems and solid separation with stockpiling or composting. Housing and MMS for the years 1990-2014 were reported in the Australian NIR (Commonwealth of Australia 2015), and were applied in the study. Housing type and MMS for 1980 was determined from Ballantyne and Wrathall (1984) and personal communications with industry researchers (K Casey, pers. comm.). Housing and MMS for 2020 was determined using data from Australian NIR (Commonwealth of Australia 2015) and Wiedemann and Watson (2018). For further detail on MMS refer to Appendix I - Supporting Information, Section: Housing and manure management systems.

Housing system	MMS	Units	1980 °	1990	2000	2010	2020 ^d
Outdoor	Spread to pasture	%	5.0%	3.0%	5.0%	5.1%	5.9%
Deep litter ^(a)	Solid storage	%	0.0%	1.0%	24.8%	21.7%	19.7%
Conventional	Effluent pond ^(b) (Uncovered anaerobic pond)	%	84.4%	90.0%	66.4%	63.8%	56.6%
	Anaerobic digester / Covered pond	%	0.0%	0.4%	0.3%	6.2%	15.6%
	Short HRT tank storage (< 1 month)	%	9.4%	2.0%	1.4%	1.4%	1.4%
	Solid separation and solid storage	%	1.2%	3.6%	2.1%	1.8%	0.8%

 Table 4 Proportion of manure treated in different manure management systems in the Australian herd from

 1980 to 2020

^a 5% of VS is assumed to be lost in the primary system (Wiedemann et al., 2014). ^b Secondary MMS from covered pond/digester is an uncovered pond, and 75% of VS is assumed to be lost in the primary system (Wiedemann et al., 2014). ^c Authors estimation from personal communication with industry experts. ^d Authors projection from NIR (Commonwealth of Australia, 2015) and Wiedemann and Watson, (2018).

2.1.2.4 Manure production and management emissions

Manure production was modelled from predicted manure excretion and feed waste using Pigbal 4 (Skerman et al. 2015). Briefly, this model applied a mass-balance approach to predict excreted nitrogen, and the dry matter digestibility approximation of manure production method to determine excreted volatile solids. Feed waste is a predicted input to the manure stream. Manure emissions were determined using the emission factors outlined in the Australian NIR (Commonwealth of Australia 2015) (key factors summarised in Appendix I - Supporting Information, Section: Housing and manure management systems) and were inclusive of system losses. In accordance with Wiedemann et al. (2016b) manure nutrients from effluent and spent litter were included as an input to the modelled cereal crop systems used in the feed inventory, which reduced fertiliser requirements by <1%.

2.1.2.5 Feed grain system inputs

Feed grain inputs were modelled using inventory data from Wiedemann et al. (2016b) and the Australian National Life Cycle Inventory Database (AusLCI) (ALCAS, 2017). Feed grain processes were developed for the time periods from 1980-2000 to reflect crop yield, crop irrigation and tillage practices from national statistics (ABS, 2012b, Watson et al., 1983, Llewellyn et al., 2012, ABS, 2011, ABS, 2005-2018). Fuel use was adjusted in response to changes in tillage and to reflect changes in engine efficiency for agricultural equipment over the time period. Fertiliser and herbicide usage over the time period was determined from national purchase data (Dept. Env and Energy, 2006). A more detailed description of these factors is provided in Appendix I - Supporting Information, Section: Feed Production Data. Additionally, the total land occupation for crop production was determined from reported crop yields each decade (ABS, 2012b) (refer to Appendix I - Supporting Information, section: Feed Production Data).

2.1.2.6 General services, water and energy

Operational inputs including purchased material, energy and water are reported per 100 kg LW pork ready for slaughter (Table 5). Trends in on-farm piggery energy use were determined from incomplete datasets taken from Pigstats (Cleary and Meo, 1998, Cleary and Meo, 1999b, Cleary and Godfrey, 2002, Cleary et al., 2003) and Wiedemann et al. (2016b). These datasets showed energy use was 19.7% higher for the three years to 2000 compared to 2010, for conventional piggeries, and this difference was used to predict an increase in energy demand of 19.7% for each decade back to 1980. The inventory values used for diesel, petrol, LPG and electricity usage in both deep litter and outdoor production systems were based on Wiedemann et al. (2016b), modified to reflect improved engine efficiency using the same method as in feed production.

In accordance with PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015), methods from Wiedemann et al. (2012) and Taylor et al. (1994) were used to estimate cleaning water, drinking water and cooling water use (refer to Appendix I - Supporting Information, Section: Direct Piggery Water Use, for further information). The projected decrease in piggery water use was attributed to increases in water recycling in conventional piggeries as well as improvement to drinkers and water management (Holyoake et al., 2018, Apostolidis et al., 2011, Gonyou, 1996, Muhlbauer et al., 2011).

Input	Parameter	Units	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020
Materials	Purchased feed (as fed)	kg 100kg LW-1	519.00	440.10	361.90	318.90	288.90
Services, conventional	Diesel	L 100kg LW-1	0.59	0.55	0.53	0.51	0.49
	Petrol	L 100kg LW-1	0.25	0.24	0.23	0.22	0.21
	LPG	L 100kg LW-I	0.45	0.39	0.34	0.28	0.22
	Electricity	kWh 100kg LW-1	35.34	30.96	26.59	22.21	17.83
	Piggery Water use	L kg LW-I	93.65	48.63	28.34	23.08	16.52
Services, deep litter/outdoor	Diesel	L 100kg LW-1	1.27	1.20	1.14	1.10	1.07
	Petrol	L 100kg LW-1	0.18	0.17	0.17	0.16	0.16
	LPG	L 100kg LW-I	0.56	0.49	0.42	0.35	0.28
	Electricity	kWh 100kg LW-1	4.69	4.11	3.53	2.95	2.37
	Piggery Water use	L kg LW-I	22.43	20.92	14.79	12.88	11.77

 Table 5 Aggregated general services and energy inputs for national pig production (on-farm) for each decade

 from 1980 to 2020.

2.1.2.7 Land Use and direct Land Use Change Emissions

Land use and direct land use change (dLUC) emissions were determined from the NIR (Commonwealth of Australia, 2018) for Australian crop land over the period 1990-2016. Emissions from crop land prior to 1980 were determined using a linear hindcasting method. Emissions for the 2020 time period were forecast from NIR data during the period 2010-2016.

2.1.3 Handling multi-functionality

The production system has multiple instances where two or more outputs arise from one production system. These instances were handled in the following way. In the feed-supply chain, economic allocation processes were used to allocate impacts between protein meals and oil products (for more detail see Wiedemann et al., 2016b). Where rendered products such as meat meal were included in the feed supply chain, the raw material from meat processing was considered a residual, and only the impacts associated with rendering the product and transporting it were attributed to pig production. Allocation was avoided in the pig-supply chain by grouping all classes of pigs sold from the farm into the reference flow of 'live weight' pork.

Manure from conventional piggeries is typically land-applied on-site to crops, or pastures grazed by beef cattle or sheep. Solid residues such as sludge and spent litter are more readily transported offsite for application on crop land. Emissions arising from land application of these residues were allocated to the industry that utilised the manure nutrients. To account for the input of manure to crop systems, it was assumed that 30% of manure nutrients were returned to the grain production system, representing <1% of cereal crop fertiliser requirements nationally, after Wiedemann et al. (2016b). Manure was included as an input to the modelled cereal crop systems used in the feed inventory.

3 Results

3.1 Trends in Australian pig production

3.1.1 Herd productivity

There have been significant productivity improvements in the Australian pork industry over the last 40 years. While sow numbers remained relatively stable over the analysis period, pigs slaughtered and total sale weight have increased substantially (see Figure IA and B), indicating that herd productivity improvements rather than herd expansion was the main driver for increased production. These productivity improvement include increased number of pigs born alive, pigs weaned and pigs slaughtered per sow, increased average carcass weight of pigs sold (Figure IB), increased average daily gain in growing pigs (Figure IE) and improved herd feed conversion rates (FCR) (Figure IB).



Figure I Herd productivity improvements in the Australian pig herd over the period 1980 to 2020

A) Total sow numbers compared to total slaughter weight (Dress Weight, DW) produced from the Australian herd,

B) Live weight sold per sow per year,
 C) Pigs born alive per sow per year compared to pigs sold per sow per year,
 D) Comparison of average sale age (days) to average sale weight (kg), and
 E) Comparison of FCR (grower and herd) to average daily gain (wean to slaughter).

3.1.2 Housing and manure management systems

Conventional housing represented approximately 95% of all pig housing in the 1980s and 1990s, however this reduced to approximately 70% following the introduction of deep litter housing in the late 1990s. Although there was a small decrease in the 1990, outdoor housing as remained fairly constant over the analysis period, accounting for 5% of the industry housing. The conventional housing MMS has changed significantly over study period. Short HRT systems, which were more common with smaller piggeries, were used to a greater extent in 1980 (9.4%) but declined in following years, possibly reflecting the growing proportion of pigs produced in larger piggeries. Solid separation peaked in the 1990s, but declined after this. The use of uncovered anaerobic ponds peaked in the 1990s and has been steadily decreasing since, in response to the introduction of deep litter in the 2000s and more recently the introduction of anaerobic digesters and covered ponds.



Figure 2 Changes in manure management systems over the period 1980 to 2020 for the Australian pig herd

Notes: OD: outdoor, manure directly deposited to land, DL: deep litter, uncovered anaerobic pond: conventional housing with uncovered anaerobic pond MMS, Anaerobic digester / Covered pond: conventional housing with anaerobic digester / covered pond MMS, Short HRT: conventional housing with short hydraulic retention time MMS, SS: conventional housing with solid separation MMS).

3.1.3 Trends in environmental impacts and resource use

3.1.3.1 GHG emissions

The analysis revealed a 69% decline in GHG emissions (excl. LU and dLUC), from 10.6 kg CO2-e kg LW-1 in 1980, to a projected 3.3 kg CO2-e kg LW-1 in 2020 (Figure 3). Emissions from the MMS

were the largest emission source, ranging from slightly over 67% of total impacts in 1980 and 1990, to around 57% in both 2010 and 2020. Emissions from the MMS declined in absolute and proportional terms over the analysis period, reflecting the change to lower emission intensity systems such as deep litter (DL) and anaerobic digesters or covered ponds and in response to reduced flows of manure and feed waste to the MMS per kg of pork. Feed production contributed slightly over 25% of GHG emissions in both1980 and 1990, which increased to 30% in both 2010 and 2020. Impacts from services and enteric emission sources both decreased over the analysis period in absolute terms because of herd efficiency improvements and reductions in energy use for services. These sources slightly increased proportionally because of the larger declines in other emission sources. Emissions from LU and dLUC declined 89%, from 2.94 kg CO2-e kg LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 0.32 kg CO2-e kg LW-1 in 2020, principally because of the change from tillage to zero tillage in grain production systems.



Figure 3 Changes in greenhouse gases emissions (excluding LU and dLUC) from the production of 1kg of live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020

3.1.3.2 Fossil energy use

Fossil fuel energy declined 58% over the analysis period, from 34 MJ kg LW-1 in 1980, to a projected 14 MJ kg LW-1 in 2020 (see Figure 4). Fossil fuel energy was primarily associated with feed grain production, and substantial declines in absolute fossil fuel energy were observed over the analysis period. The contribution of feed to total energy also declined from 83% of fossil fuel energy in 1980 to 77% in 2020. The contribution of services (i.e. energy used at the piggery) also decreased in absolute terms over the analysis period, but slightly increased in proportional terms, from 17% in 1980 to a projected 23% in 2020, indicating that energy efficiency improvements were less pronounced in piggeries than in grain production systems.



Figure 4 Changes in fossil energy use from the production of 1kg of live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020

3.1.3.3 Fresh water consumption and water stress

Fresh water consumption was 441 L kg LW-1 in 1980, declining to a projected 90 L kg LW-1 in 2020, representing an 80% reduction in water consumption over the analysis period (see Figure 5). Water stress followed a similar trend, decreasing by slightly over 80%, from 287 L H2O-e LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 57 L H2O-e LW-1 in 2020. Irrigation associated with feed production was the single largest source of fresh water consumption, contributing over 79% in 1980, peaking at 90% in 2000, then decreasing to a projected 83% in 2020. The contribution of piggery water consumption slightly decreased from 21% in 1980 to a projected 17% in 2020.



Figure 5 Changes in water consumption (A) and water stress (B) from the production of 1kg live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020

3.1.3.4 Land occupation

Land occupation declined 63%, from 31 m2 LW-1 in 1980 to a projected 11 m2 LW-1 in 2020 (see Figure 6) in response to reductions in feed requirements (i.e. improved FCR) and increased grain yields in the feed grain production system. Interestingly, land occupation increased slightly in 2010 compared to 2000, because of the lower yields reported in these drought years (BoM, 2015).



Figure 6 Changes in land use from the production of 1kg live weight pork over the period 1980 to 2020

4 Discussion

Environmental impacts and resource use associated with Australian pork production has declined substantially since 1980, in response to a range of changes in the pork production system and in grain production. Over this time, improvements in pig breeding and management have resulted in substantial improvements in production efficiency, which has led to a decrease in both upstream impacts associated with grain production, and downstream impacts associated with manure management. Changes in housing and MMS have also resulted in lower impacts over time, and improvements in the grain production system have also led to reduced impacts. These influences are described in the following sections.

4.1 The influence of changes in herd productivity

During the analysis period, pork production per breeding sow increased 55%, in response to a 39% increase in pigs sold per sow and a 26% increase in the average liveweight of pigs at slaughter. In addition, average daily gain increased 39%, resulting in faster turnoff. These changes contributed to substantial reductions in herd FCR. Herd productivity improvements are a combination of genetic gains, improved nutrition and improved husbandry. Genetic improvement is a major factor contributing to the productivity of the pork production systems, including gains in pig per litter, FCR, average daily gain (ADG), protein deposition and lean-meat content (Hermesch, 2004). Historically, genetic improvement was attained using on-farm small-scale performance testing using a selection index. Since the 1980s, boar test stations accelerated the spread of genetic improvements through the industry (NSW DPI, 2006, McLaren, 2007). In more recent years, large pig breeding companies have accelerated the rate of improvement though the application of technology to identify molecular markers for genetic improvement (Bunter and Hermesch, 2017). MacLeod et al. (2013), Garnett (2011), Fry and Kingston (2009) and Piot-Lepetit and Le Moing (2007), found that increases in pig productivity resulted in a significant decline in GHG emissions. Furthermore, several international studies on different animal production systems have shown that increasing animal productivity significantly reduced GHG emission intensity (Ripoll-Bosch et al., 2013, Gerber et al., 2011, Wall et al., 2010, Garnett, 2011, DPIRD WA, 2018) in agreeance with trends found by this study.

Increased growth rates from birth to slaughter and increased live weight at slaughter were a substantial contributor to reduced GHG emissions per kilogram of pork produced, which was similar to the trend observed in Canadian pork production (Verge et al. 2009), and for Australian beef cattle by Wiedemann et al. (2015).

In parallel to genetic improvements, pig nutrition has advanced to deliver better growth rates and lower FCR. These improvements include phase feeding, nutrient optimisation, digestibility improvements, use of enzymes and synthetic amino acids (SAA) (Radcliffe, 1987, Gardner et al., 1990, QLD DAF, 2013). Phase feeding changes the diet composition according to nutritional needs at different growth stages, and was introduced in Australia in the late 1990s (Gardner et al., 1990). Particularly, diet protein content is optimised between growth stages in order to avoid protein overconsumption and to maximise lean growth. This is particularly important to maximise lean growth potential in modern genetically improved, high lean genotypes pigs (Coffey et al., 2017). Combined with increased use of SSA, the overall dietary crude protein (CP) was observed to decrease by 14.2% between 1980 and 2020, which in turn resulted in lower nitrogen excretion and therefore lower manure related nitrous oxide emissions. The relationship between dietary CP and reduced

GHG has been shown by a number of studies (Seradj et al., 2018, Canh et al., 1998, Zervas and Zijlstra, 2002, Le et al., 2008, Sajeev et al., 2018, Kaufmann, 2015).

The increased use of SSA in pig diets has also enabled diet formulations with lower proportions of protein meal and higher levels of cereal grains. Over the analysis period, protein meal declined from 22% of the diet in 1980 to a projected 16% in 2020, which was consistent with dietary trends in other studies (Denton et al., 2005, Vergé et al., 2009). Australian cereal grains typically have relatively low emission intensities (i.e. Brock et al. 2013) while protein meals are more emission intensive, particularly in the case of imported soymeal and animal protein meals. Thus, these changes in the proportion of different commodities has contributed to lower impact diet formulations.

In the present study, diet digestibility was found to increase by 9.5% between 1980 and 2020, due to changes in the composition of diets, feed processing and the use of enzymes. Feed processing changes including the optimisation of diet particle sizes, and use of pelleted diets, have also improved digestibility and feed efficiency (Fan et al., 2017, Bao et al., 2016, Wondra et al., 1995, Goodband et al., 1995, Owsley et al., 1981). Improved digestibility is a likely contributor to the higher reported growth rates and improved feed efficiency in the herd over the analysis period, and also led to lower predicted manure excretion rates and subsequent GHG emissions from the MMS.

In addition to improvements in feed formulation, feeding systems also improved over the analysis period, resulting in a decline in feed wastage. Feed wastage in piggeries can be a substantial loss and is difficult to measure directly. Consequently, herd FCR is usually measured on the amount of feed offered to the pigs, which includes the feed consumed and the feed wasted. Over the analysis period, feed waste declined 62%, in response to better feed management and feeding systems. The major changes identified were a shift from feed type (changing from mash to pellets or liquid food), feed presentation (floor fed to non-floor feeding), and feed processing (optimising feed particle size for pig stages) (Roese, 1990, Taylor and Clark, 1990, Willis, 1999). This contributed to lower FCRs, and also reduced the amount of volatile solids lost to the MMS directly from wasted feed. Volatile solids from feed waste have been shown to contribute substantially to MMS GHG emissions (Wiedemann et al., 2016b, Manyi-Loh et al., 2013) and this trend was a contributing factor to lower MMS emissions.

These improvements in herd productivity, feed formulation and feed waste resulted in an estimated 55% decline in FCR over the analysis period. In their analysis of case study piggeries, Wiedemann et al. (2016b) found that FCR explained 88% of the variability in GHG between conventional piggeries, because of the dual impact on feed requirements and upstream impacts, and manure production, leading to lower MMS emissions. Results of this study indicate that improved FCR is the single most important factor contributing to reduction of multiple impacts from pork production over time.

4.2 The influence of housing and MMS changes

Differences in housing and MMS can have a significant effect on GHG emissions from pork production (Wiedemann et al., 2016b, Philippe and Nicks, 2015, Dennehy et al., 2017, Cherubini et al., 2015, Rigolot et al., 2010, Amon et al., 2006). Over the analysis period, changes were observed in both the housing type and the MMS used in the Australian herd, leading to reductions in GHG emissions and some reductions in piggery water use. the MMS was the largest contributor to GHG emissions, and consequently the change in GHG was most apparent. As shown by Wiedemann et al.

(2016b), use of deep litter housing for the wean-finish stage resulted in 30%, 16% and 28% reduction in GHG emissions, energy and water respectively, compared to conventional housing with uncovered, anaerobic ponds. Thus, the increase in DL housing in preference for conventional housing with uncovered anaerobic ponds was one factor leading to lower GHG emissions and to a lesser extent, lower energy and water use from services.

During the last decade, the proportion of piggeries with covered anaerobic ponds or digesters was predicted to increase from 0% to 16%, leading to further reductions in GHG emissions and energy demand. The NIR (2015) and Skerman (2017) showed a similar increase the proportion of piggeries with covered anaerobic ponds or digesters. In comparative terms, Wiedemann et al. (2016b, 2017) showed that installing a covered pond with a combined heat and power (CHP) unit reduced GHG emissions by 60% and energy demand to negligible levels for the piggery, though energy associated with upstream processes such as grain production was unchanged. Thus, the trend towards higher proportions of the industry utilising covered ponds or digesters is an important, recent trend that has led to lower environmental impacts.

Several international studies have shown that the adoption of biogas can significantly reduce the GHG emission intensity of pork production, in agreeance with trends found by this study. Lamnatou et al. (2016) showed that manure use for energy production by means of biogas generation can significantly reduce the GHG and environmental impacts of pork production, while the Cherubini et al. (2015) study demonstrated that the implementation of a bio-digestor for energy purposes had the best environmental performance for almost all the environmental impacts, mainly due to the biogas capture and the potential of energy saved.

Over the analysis period, energy demand for operating the piggery (piggery services) declined by 42%. This was in response to energy efficiency improvements and the increase in deep litter housing, combined with herd productivity improvements that resulted in shorter residence times and reduced housing requirements per kilogram of pork produced from the system.

Piggery services water requirements were also observed to decline over the analysis period, principally because of an increase in water recycling (for flushing) in conventional piggeries and the optimisation of water management via improved drinker management, optimisation of water pressure and better housing temperature management which has led to reduced water wastage (Alvarez-Rodriguez et al., 2013, Brumm et al., 2000, Brumm, 2006, Brumm, 2010).

4.3 The influence of feed production changes

Feed impacts arise from field operations, fertiliser emissions, transport and milling and are typically a major impact area for pork production (Pirlo et al., 2016, Reckmann et al., 2013). The investigation of trends in the environmental impacts of diets revealed substantial reductions in all impact categories across the analysis period. These changes were largely in response to increased yields, improved tillage systems and increased efficiency in machinery operations, and a decline in the relative contribution of irrigated grain to total grain production. The combined impact of these changes was as 30% and 28% decrease in GHG emissions and fossil fuel energy demand per tonne of pig feed from 1980 and 2010. Over the same period, fresh water consumption and water stress was found to decrease by 63% and 61% per tonne of pig feed, while land occupation declined by 34%. This period corresponded to a substantial 40% yield increase for Australian broadacre crops and

90% and 16% reduction in tillage events and machinery fuel use respectively (see Figure 3a), though fluctuations were observed in response to drought conditions around the year 2010 (ABS, 2012b). The uptake of zero tillage was a notable change during this period, and has been identified as one of the most significant changes in agricultural practices over the last 40 years in Australia (Barson et al., 2012). This has resulting in reduced fuel requirements and reduced land use (soil) carbon losses. Concurrently, machinery size has increased, resulting in greater fuel use efficiency for field operations. These combined effects have led to lower environmental impacts from Australian grain production and better soil condition in crop lands. Changes in GHG and energy were less pronounced when projected to 2020, largely because the uptake of zero tillage slowed (see Figure 7B) as it reached very high uptake levels, leaving little room for further improvement. Additionally, yield increases were accompanied by higher fertiliser and herbicide usage, resulting in little improvement in GHG or energy demand per tonne of feed over this period (see Supporting Information, section: Feed Production Data). In contrast to this, the increase in yield resulted in further declines in land occupation of a projected 18% over this decade.

Changes in fresh water consumption over the analysis period were driven by different trends compared to GHG, energy and land occupation. Fresh water consumption was largely associated with the irrigated fraction of the total cereal crop, which contributed a disproportionally large amount of total water. The irrigated broadacre crop share of the market, by estimated tonnage, has reduced by 42.9% between 1980 and 2020.

The application rate of water per hectare also reduced by 41.6% during this period due to an increase in water price and improvements in irrigation system efficiency. This resulted in a market dilution effect leading to lower irrigation water relative to total grain production. As a result of these two changes, the average irrigation water use per tonne of Australian broadacre crop on the market reduced by 65%. This is illustrated in Figure 7c, which shows the proportion crop yield from irrigated cereal grain over the analysis period. The contribution of irrigated crops was found to peak in the 1990s, then to decline steadily, with further declines projected to 2020 in response to ongoing declines in irrigation water use for cereal grains (ABS, 2017).



Figure 7 Changes in grain production systems over the period 1980 to 2020

A) Historical Australian cereal grains (wheat, barley and maize) yield relative to 2010 base year in 5-year increments from 1970-2020 (ABS, 2012),

B) Historical Australian crop tillage events per hectate per years (ABS, 2018a), and
 C) Percentage of Australian crop yield from irrigated crop land (including supply losses) (ABS, 1999-2017), data from 2015-17 was used to predict irrigation values for 2020

4.4 Comparison with literature

Vergé et al (2009) compared Canadian pork production from 1981 to 2001 and showed that the GHG emission intensity (excluding LU and dLUC) decreased by 30% over this period, from 2.99 to 2.31 kg CO2-e kg LW-1. The decline in emissions was attributed to higher diet digestibility, lower N-fertiliser use in crop systems as well as improved breeds and changes in management practices which resulted in improved herd productivity. Similarly, Boyd et al (2012) reported a decline in GHG emission intensity for USA pork from 3.8 to 2.5 kg CO2-e kg-I carcase weight (excluding LU and dLUC) from 1959 to 2009. This was attributed to a reduction in pesticide and fertiliser use in crop systems, changes in MMS, and improvement in production efficiency for both pig production and crop yields.

Interestingly, the change in emission intensity in the present study was much greater than reported in the north American studies. This can be partly explained by the higher historic MMS emissions in Australia, where uncovered anerobic ponds are prevalent and emission rates are very high in comparison to northern hemisphere countries (McGahan et al. 2016), leading to higher emission intensities. It was also clear that the reported improvement in productivity was greater in the present study, partly because Australian pig production had poorer rates of productivity in the early part of the analysis period. Boyd et al (2012) also reported the change in fresh water consumption in piggeries, which was found to decline from 30 L kg of LW-1 in 1959 to 18 L kg of LW-1 in 2009, a 41% improvement. The authors postulated that reduced water consumption was the result of herd productivity improvements. The present study reported a change in pig water consumption from 90 to 15 L kg of LW-1, with the larger change principally in response to increased water recycling in Australian piggeries, and the increased proportion of deep litter housing together with herd productivity improvements. In contrast to the present study where irrigation water use decreased by 66% over the analysis period, Boyd et al (2012) reported a 6-fold increase is water use for crop irrigation in 2009 compared to 1959, highlighting differences in water management in the two countries. In Australia, irrigation water has become increasingly constrained, and the introduction of water markets (National Water Commission, 2011) has led to water being utilised in the highest value crops, potentially reducing water availability for cereal grain production. The reduction in water for Australian pork production was similar in magnitude to the change in water use for Australian beef (Wiedemann et al. 2015) with some similar drivers (reduced irrigation water use) but also some differences. In the beef study, water use declined substantially in response to changes in losses from artesian bore water, which was not a feature in the pork study.

Emissions were also found to decline by 14% for Australian beef between 1981-2010 (Wiedemann et al. 2015) in response to efficiency gains through heavier slaughter weights, increases in growth rates and improved survival rates. This was substantially less than the reduced emissions for pork, because the productivity improvements for beef have been less pronounced, and emission sources in beef (i.e. enteric methane) are more difficult to control. One contrasting result in the beef study of Wiedemann et al. (2015) was the increase in energy associated with beef production, following intensification. This trend was reversed in pig production, though energy intensity remained higher than for beef cattle, where inputs associated with feed and farm operations are low compared to pork production.

4.5 Implications to the Australian pork industry

The pork industry, like all industries, must continue to improve efficiency and reduce environmental impacts to remain competitive and contribute to better sustainability outcomes for food production. While this study revealed a considerable decline across all impact categories, it was also evident that the rate of improvement in GHG emission intensity and energy demand slowed substantially in the last decade. Additionally, while complementary reductions in environmental impacts occurred in grain production systems for the first three decades, there was no reduction in GHG or energy projected between 2010 and 2020, because technology changes had been implemented, and fertiliser inputs increased (see supplementary materials). In contrast, further reductions in fresh water consumption were observed in the feed production system across the whole time period and could continue as water is transferred to higher value users. The declining rate of improvement indicates that targeted initiatives will be required to make further substantial changes in GHG, energy and fresh water consumption. The largest opportunities exist in further herd productivity improvements, optimised diets and increased utilisation of waste feed sources, increased uptake of biogas, improved utilisation of effluent water and nutrients, and potentially utilisation of other forms of renewable energy.

4.5.1 Herd productivity improvements

While Australian pig herd performance has significantly improved since the 1980s, it is still behind world leaders Demark, the Netherlands, Canada and USA, indicating there is still room for herd performance gains from genetic improvements (Pork CRC, 2017). Genetic improvements in growth, reproduction and carcass traits as well a focus on genotype and commercial environment interactions could optimise the resource use of pork production, further reducing the emission intensity of piggery operations (McLaren, 2007).

Increasing the turnoff weight at slaughter is an alternative which could substantially reduce the environmental footprint of piggery operations. The authors previously used consequential life cycle assessment to incorporate the market effects (supply, demand and price) and predict the impact of future pork production in Australia (Wiedemann and Watson, 2018). Consequential life cycle assessment enables the consequences of changing market (i.e. increase or decrease pork production) to be investigated. When consequential LCA is used in conjunction with attributional LCA (like this paper), it allows for the comprehensive assessment of the impacts from additional pork (consequential LCA) to the average pork (attributional LCA). Wiedemann and Watson (2018) found increasing the turnoff weight by 10 kg LW (to an average of 110 kg LW) in an increasing pork market would lower GHG emission per kg of LW produced due to reduced feed requirements. That is, increasing turn off weight of the additional pigs needed to meet increased market demand would have a lower GHG emission intensity. The emission from additional pork is significantly lower than the impacts from average pork. Likewise, an Australian beef GHG study showed that that imposing more mitigation strategies with the potential to profitably enhance liveweight turnoff allowed a greater reduction in emissions intensity (Harrison et al., 2016).

4.5.2 Optimised diets

The optimisation of pig diets by increasing the digestibility could reduce total feed consumption and nutrient excretion, which could further reduce the environmental footprint of piggery operations in Australia. Additionally, reducing feed wastage, through improved feeder types and management practices is an optimisation strategy that will increase feed efficiency (Schell et al., 2001, Carr, 2008, DeRouchey and Richert, 2010) and reduce the GHG emission associated with manure treatment in uncovered anaerobic ponds. Another common optimisation strategy is reducing dietary crude protein in pig rations by increasing the inclusion rates of SAAs, reducing the proportion of high protein ingredients in feed and reducing environmental impacts (Meul et al., 2012, Garcia-Launay et al., 2014, Ogino et al., 2013).

Additionally, the use of local diet components can significantly reduce the GHG and fossil fuel emissions from feed. For example, one strategy to reduce GHG and dLUC emissions from imported soybean meal would be to increase alternative local protein crops production, though this would need to be achieved without inducing an expansion of crop land and subsequent dLUC emissions in Australia (Wiedemann and Watson, 2018). Noya et al. (2017) showed the use of ingredients cultivated in regions close to the location of pig production reduced the environmental burdens of pig feed production. Furthermore, Lamnatou et al. (2016) showed that pig diets formulated with higher levels of crops with lower cultivation impacts, use of sustainable agricultural practices and local production of the feed components can significantly reduce the environmental impacts of pork production. Analysis of the Brazilian pork industry found that avoiding the use of grain from

deforested areas can significantly decrease the environmental impacts of pork production (Cherubini et al., 2015).

Of note is the utilisation of food rejected from the human supply chain pre-consumption to reduce GHG emissions. Approximately 40% of food in the Australian human supply chain is wasted (FAO, 2013; Gustavsson et al., 2011; Lapidge, 2015), representing some 22 M GJ of food energy (equivalent to 1.23 M tonnes of cereal grain) that is potentially available in Australia annually. According to Wiedemann (2018) with full energy recovery, this corresponds to 78% of the feed requirements for the Australian pig industry. While there are logistical and regulatory barriers (swill feeding) associated with human supply chain pre-consumption food waste, this indicates that there is significant potential for the pig industry to continue to reduce impacts associated with feed inputs, with associated economic benefits also.

4.5.3 Optimised biogas

Increased uptake of biogas and closed loop technologies is a major opportunity for improved environmental outcomes for the pig industry. Wiedemann and Watson (2018) found that biogas production was a common feature of the larger, new conventional piggery developments in Australia, however biogas production was not cost effective in small and medium piggeries, limiting uptake. With increased biogas uptake, MMS emissions and on-farm energy emissions will continue to decline in the Australian industry.

4.6 Limitations

An important limitation of this work is that 1980 and 2020 data was produced from projected trends. Prediction of future impacts is complicated by the requirement to project industry changes over a certain time horizon. In the present study, a model was constructed that aimed to represent a complex market and production dynamic in 2020.fSI While, the results do not describe the full environmental consequences of future production, it revealed that environmental efficiency is improving. Water improvements gains were estimated from expert opinion, so there is higher uncertainty associated with water values. Additionally, this report was not comprehensively assessing all nutrient emissions associated with pork production. It should also be noted that at the time of project inception the economics of pork production were significantly better than at the time of writing. While Australian consumption of pork is still increasing, and new piggery developments will be needed to meet this demand, the lower prices may affect the scheduling of new developments. Thus, as the developments are likely to be delayed, the improvements projected in this study may be less than projected.

5 Implications & Recommendations

5.1 Conclusions

The Australian pig industry has experienced significant changes in the scale and level of productivity achieved by producers over the last four decades. There has been a significant improvement in productivity, with more liveweight sold per sow, and lower FCRs. Estimates of improvements in environmental efficiency reflected enhanced herd productivity and changes in management of key resources such as water and land. Over the four decades since 1980 there has been a 69%, 58%, 80% and 63% reduction in GHG emissions, fossil fuel use, water consumption and land occupation, respectively. It also highlights that there has been some slowing of the rate of improvement since 2010 despite the potential for further productivity improvements. This study represents the most comprehensive analysis to date of trends in the environmental impacts of Australian pork production on a national scale. Improved herd and system efficiency led to improved feed conversion ratio, resulting in lower feed requirements, and reduced manure production, which had a disproportionally larger effect on reducing manure GHG emissions. The introduction of deep litter housing and covered ponds in Australian piggeries contributed to reducing environmental impacts. Concurrently, reduced tillage, higher yields and a decrease in the proportion of irrigation water used for grain production improved the efficiency of the feed grain production systems resulting in lower impacts per kilogram of feed grain produced.

5.2 Recommendations

A series of recommendations have been developed following this work, relating to future research, development and communication.

5.2.1 Research and Development

Reducing environmental impacts is an industry priority. This research points to the following key areas for future research and development:

- Biogas and closed loop technologies. These are well recognised by industry as an important means of reducing impacts from GHG, energy, water and nutrients. The increased implementation of capped aerobic ponds for energy can significantly decrease the environmental impacts of pork. Ongoing policy support is required to maximise uptake, particularly among smaller producers and those with lower cost power supplies. Closed loop technologies are also a priority, to improve utilisation of water and nutrients from piggeries.
- Utilisation of food waste. In Australia there are large quantities of waste food from the human food supply chain that could be used to reduce the environmental impacts of feed and to reduce the costs of feed inputs. While well understood and known by industry, there would be much greater opportunity for uptake if known barriers could be overcome. Investigating the potential to utilise waste heat from biogas operations to heat treat some forms of food waste could further reduce reliance on expensive and high environmental impact feed ingredients such as protein meals. It is also possible that utilising food waste

diverts these products from land fill, further reducing emissions. This is an area where further work is needed.

- Development of "sustainable diets" and optimised feed formulations. The use of local and/or sustainable diet components can significantly reduce the GHG and fossil fuel emissions from feed. In particular, options continuing to decrease reliance on imported soymeal is a priority to decrease environmental impacts from feed. There may also be ongoing opportunities to reduce crude protein levels and decrease nitrogen related manure emissions. This research area could benefit from cross-industry investment from monogastric species to investigate the opportunity for environmentally optimised diets.
- Nutrient recovery and improved effluent / manure utilisation. Manure and effluent nutrients could be utilised to a higher extent to offset fertiliser requirements in crops and pastures. An audit or survey of current manure and effluent management would provide valuable information to determine if further research, extension or development is required to improve manure and effluent nutrient utilisation by industry. There are opportunities to reduce reported impacts from pork by substituting manure for synthetic fertilisers, but currently the estimated proportion of manure used in a beneficial way is relatively low and new information would be beneficial.
- Investigating optimised "future pork" systems. The partner study to this report
 commissioned by the Pork CRC (Wiedemann & Watson 2018) conducted a preliminary
 study of opportunities for reduced emission pork production. This important new avenue of
 research is required to demonstrate that future pork production will have lower impacts
 than current industry averages, because of substantial improvements in environmental
 performance among the top industry performers. Further research and development of
 communication strategies in this area would be beneficial.
- Carbon Neutral pork. Environmental impacts have been shown to decline over time in this study, and the opportunity now exists to develop verified carbon neutral pork based on similar analysis approaches as applied here. This is an opportunity the industry would benefit from exploring, to determine the methods, requirements and costs for verified carbon neutral pork.
- Assessment of change in nutrient emissions. This study, and previous LCAs, have excluded nutrient impacts despite this being an important area of environmental impact for pork production. New methods have now been assessed to report nutrient impact intensity (kg nutrient per kg pork) and this would be a highly valuable area of research to provide both a rounded view of environmental impacts, and also to demonstrate to regulators that intensive pork production has low impacts relative to pork production. This is an important perspective that needs to be presented using rigorous research.

5.2.2 Communications

This research has potential to provide a valuable basis for consumer and government communications, both as a means of communicating the achievements made by industry, and also as a way of developing support for further advancements. To underpin public communications, the

results would receive more recognition and be more defensible if the work was published in a peer reviewed journal literature. to peer reviewed publication.

Additional communication tools such as fact sheets and infographics would be beneficial for simplifying and communicating the message to a non-technical audience.

6 Literature cited

ABARES. (2017). Agricultural Commodities Report - March Quarter 2017. Available at - <u>http://www.agriculture.gov.au/abares/Documents/agricultural-commodities-report-march-2017.pdf</u>

ABS 1999-2017. 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities . Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/second+level+view?ReadForm&prodno=7121.0&viewtitl e=Agricultural%20Commodities,%20Australia~1997-98~Previous~13/07/1999&&tabname=Past%20Future%20Issues&prodno=7121.0&issue=1997-98&num=&view=&

ABS 1999. 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 1997-98. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.01997-98?OpenDocument

ABS 2001. 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 1999-00. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.01999-00?OpenDocument

ABS 2005-2018. 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, series (2004-2017). (Online) Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/second+level+view?ReadForm&prodno=4618.0&viewtitl e=Water%20Use%20on%20Australian%20Farms~2015-16~Previous~07/07/2017&&tabname=Past%20Future%20Issues&prodno=4618.0&issue=2015-16&num=&view=&: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).

ABS. (2011). Water use on Australian farms, 2009 – 10. Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).

ABS. (2012a). 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 2010-11. Available at -<u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.02010-11?OpenDocument</u>: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2012b). Historical Selected Agricultural commodities Australia: by State 1861-2010 Available at - <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7124.02009-</u> <u>10?OpenDocument</u>: Australian Bureau of Statistics (Online).

ABS. (2017). 7215.0 Livestock Products, Australia, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). ABS 2018a. 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 2016-17. Available at -<u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.02016-17?OpenDocument</u>: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2018b). 7218.0 - Livestock and Meat, Australia. Online. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7218.0.55.001Feb%202018?OpenDocument: Austraialian Buereau of Statistics.

ALCAS. (2017). AusLCI, Australia: Australian Life Cycle Assessment Society (ALCAS). Available at: <u>http://auslci.com.au/</u>.

Alvarez-Rodriguez, J., Hermida, B., Parera, J., Morazán, H., Balcells, J. and Babot, D. (2013) The influence of drinker device on water use and fertiliser value of slurry from growing-finishing pigs, *Animal production science*, 53(4), p. 328-334.

Amon, B., Kryvoruchko, V., Amon, T. and Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. (2006). Methane, nitrous oxide and ammonia emissions during storage and after application of dairy cattle slurry and influence of slurry treatment, *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 112(2–3), p.153-162.

ANZECC & ARMCANZ. (1999). Effluent Management Guidelines for Intensive Piggeries in Australia. Canberra. Available at - <u>http://www.waterquality.gov.au/SiteCollectionDocuments/pub4-effluent-intensive-piggeries.pdf</u>: Australian Government Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry.

APL. (2010). Australian Pig Annual 2009-2010. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

APL. (2011). Australian Pig Annual 2010-2011. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

APL. (2012). Australian Pig Annual 2011-2012. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

Apostolidis, N., Hertle, C., and Young, R. (2011). Water recycling in Australia, *Water*, 3(3), p.869-881.

Ballantyne, E. R. and Wrathall, L. S. (1984). A Postal Survey of Intensive Pig Accommodation in Australia: Part 1: the questionnaire and the responses. Australia: CSIRO Division of Building Research.

Bao, Z., Li, Y., Zhang, J., Li, L., Zhang, P., and Huang, F. (2016). Effect of particle size of wheat on nutrient digestibility, growth performance, and gut microbiota in growing pigs, *Livestock Science*, 183, p.33-39.

Barson, M., Mewett, J., and Paplinska, J. (2012). Land management practice trends in Australia's broadacre cropping industries. Caring for our Country Sustainable Practices fact sheet 3. Australia: Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry.

Basset-Mens, C. and Van der Werf, H. M. (2005). Scenario-based environmental assessment of farming systems: the case of pig production in France, *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 105(1-2), p.127-144.

Bava, L., Zucali, M., Sandrucci, A., and Tamburini, A. (2017). Environmental impact of the typical heavy pig production in Italy, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140, p.685-691.

Benoit, M. and Dakpo, H. Greenhouse gas emissions on french meat sheep farms: analysis over the period 1987-2010. Emissions of Gas and Dust from Livestock, Edits. Hassouna M., Guigand N. Proceedings Emili 2012 congress, p.384-387.

BoM. (2015). Recent rainfall, drought and southern Australia's long-term rainfall decline. Available at-<u>http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/updates/articles/a010-southern-rainfall-decline.shtml</u>: Bureau of Meteorology.

Boyd, G., Cady, R., Wittig, L., Bryan, G., Anderson, D., Sutton, A., Holden, P., and Thoma, G. (2012). A 50-year comparison of the carbon footprint and resource use of the US swine herd: 1959–2009. Camco North America, Colorado.

Brumm, M. (2006) Patterns of drinking water use in pork production facilities.

Brumm, M. (2010). Water Recommendations and Systems for Swine. Available at -<u>http://porkgateway.org/resource/water-recommendations-and-systems-for-swine/</u>: Pork Information Gateway (Online).

Brumm, M. C., Dahlquist, J. M., and Heemstra, J. M. (2000). Impact of feeders and drinker devices on pig performance, water use, and manure volume, *Journal of Swine Health and Production*, 8(2), p.51-57.

Bunter, K. and Hermesch, S. (2017). What does the 'closed herd' really mean for Australian breeding companies and their customers?, *Animal Production Science*, 57(12), p.2353-2359.

Canh, T., Aarnink, A., Schutte, J., Sutton, A., Langhout, D., and Verstegen, M. (1998). Dietary protein affects nitrogen excretion and ammonia emission from slurry of growing–finishing pigs, *Livestock Production Science*, 56(3), p.181-191.

Capper, J. L. (2011). The Environmental Impact of Beef Production in the United States: 1977 Compared with 2007, *Journal of Animal Science*, 89(12), p.4249-4261.

Capper, J. L., Cady, R., and Bauman, D. (2009). The environmental impact of dairy production: 1944 compared with 2007, *Journal of animal science*, 87(6), p.2160-2167.

Carr, J. (2008). Management Practices to Reduce Expensive Feed Wastage. Available at -<u>http://www.thepigsite.com/pigjournal/articles/2169/management-practices-to-reduce-expensive-feed-wastage/</u>: The Pig Site (Online).

Chadwick, D., Sommer, S., Thorman, R., Fangueiro, D., Cardenas, L., Amon, B., and Misselbrook, T. (2011). 'Manure management: implications for greenhouse gas emissions', *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 166, p.514-531.

Cherubini, E., Zanghelini, G. M., Alvarenga, R. A. F., Franco, D., and Soares, S. R. (2015). 'Life cycle assessment of swine production in Brazil: a comparison of four manure management systems', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 87, p.68-77.

Cleary, G. and Godfrey, A. (eds.) (2002) Pig Stats 2000 and 2001. Australia: Australian Pork Limited.

Cleary, G. and Meo, H. 1997. PigStats 96. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Cleary, G. and Meo, H. (eds.) (1998) PigStats 98. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Cleary, G. and Meo, H. (eds.) (1999a) PigStats 98. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Cleary, G. and Meo, H. (eds.) (1999b) PigStats 99. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Cleary, G. and Meo, H. (eds.) (2000) PigStats 99. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Cleary, G., Phillip, G. and McElhone, C. (eds.) (2003) Pig Stats 2002. Australia: Australian Pork Limited.

Cleary, G. and Ransley, R. (eds.) (1994) PigStats 93. Australia: Pig Research and Development Corporation, and Australian Pork Corporation.

Coffey, R. D., Parker, G. R. and Laurent, K. M. (2017). Phase-Feeding of Grow-Finish Pigs. Available at - <u>https://www.porkbusiness.com/article/phase-feeding-grow-finish-pigs</u> Farm Journal (Website)

Commonwealth of Australia. (2015). National Inventory Report (NIR) 2013 - Volume I. Available at - <u>http://www.environment.gov.au/climate-change/climate-science-data/greenhouse-gas-</u>

measurement/publications/national-inventory-report-2013: Australian Government - Department of Environment and Energy.

Commonwealth of Australia. (2018). National Inventory Report (NIR) 2016 - Volume I, Australia: Australian Government, Department of the Environment and Energy (DEE).

Corbala-Robles, L., Sastafiana, W., Volcke, E. and Schaubroeck, T. (2018). Life cycle assessment of biological pig manure treatment versus direct land application – a trade-off story, *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, 131, p.86-98.

Dalal, R. and Mayer, R. (1986). Long term trends in fertility of soils under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping in southern Queensland. II. Total organic carbon and its rate of loss from the soil profile, Soil Research, 24(2), p.281-292.

Dalgaard, R. L. (2007). The environmental impact of pork production from a life cycle perspective, Aalborg University.

de Vries, M. and de Boer, I. J. (2010). Comparing Environmental Impacts for Livestock Products: A Review of Life Cycle Assessments, *Livestock Science*, 128(1), p.1-11.

Dennehy, C., Lawlor, P. G., Jiang, Y., Gardiner, G. E., Xie, S., Nghiem, L. D., and Zhan, X. (2017). Greenhouse gas emissions from different pig manure management techniques: a critical analysis, *Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering*, 11(3), p.11.

Denton, J., Coon, C., Pettigrew, J. and Parsons, C. (2005). Historical and scientific perspectives of same species feeding of animal by-products, *Journal of applied poultry research*, 14(2), p.352-361.

Dept. Env and Energy (2006). Agricultural Chemical Usage Database. (Online) Available at -<u>http://www.environment.gov.au/protection/chemicals-management/agricultural-chemical-usage-database</u>: Australian Government.

DeRouchey, J. o. and Richert, B. T. (2010). Feeding Systems for Swine Available at - <u>http://porkgateway.org/resource/feeding-systems-for-swine/</u>: Pork Information Gateway.

Dourmad, J., Ryschawy, J., Trousson, T., Bonneau, M., Gonzàlez, J., Houwers, H., Hviid, M., Zimmer, C., Nguyen, T. and Morgensen, L. (2014). Evaluating Environmental Impacts of Contrasting Pig Farming Systems with Life Cycle Assessment, *Animal*, 8(12), p.2027-2037.

Dowling, D. (2006). Australian Pig Annual 2005. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited. DPIRD WA 2018. Reducing livestock greenhouse gas emissions. Available at -<u>https://www.agric.wa.gov.au/climate-change/reducing-livestock-greenhouse-gas-emissions</u>: DPIRD WA (online).

Dyer, J., Vergé, X., Desjardins, R. and Worth, D. (2010). The protein-based GHG emission intensity for livestock products in Canada, *Journal of Sustainable Agriculture*, 34(6), p.618-629.

Eriksson, I. S., Elmquist, H., Stern, S. and Nybrant, T. (2005). Environmental systems analysis of pig production-the impact of feed choice (12 pp), *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 10(2), p.143-154.

FAO. (2013). Food Wastage Footprint: Impacts on Natural Resources: Summary Report, Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).

Fan, Y., Guo, P., Yang, Y., Xia, T., Liu, L. and Ma, Y. (2017). Effects of particle size and adaptation duration on the digestible and metabolizable energy contents and digestibility of various chemical constituents in wheat for finishing pigs determined by the direct or indirect method, *Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences*, 30(4), p.554.

FPPQ (2009). Swine production and greenhouse gases. In: Québec, F.d.p.d.p.d. (ed.). Available at - <u>https://www.manitobapork.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/Swine-Production-and-Greenhouse-Gases.pdf</u> FFPQ (Online).

Frischknecht, R., Jungbluth, N., (eds), Althaus, H., Doka, G., Dones, R., Heck, T., Hellweg, S., Hischier, R., Nemecek, T., Rebitzer, G., Spielmann, M., and Wernet, G. (2007). Overview and Methodology Data v2.0 Dübendorf: Swiss Centre for Life Cycle Inventories

Fry, J. and Kingston, C. (2009). Life Cycle Assessment of Pork. Available at https://pork.ahdb.org.uk/media/2344/lifecycelassmntofporklaunchversion.pdf: Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board Meat Services (UK).

Garcia-Launay, F., Van der Werf, H., Nguyen, T. T. H., Le Tutour, L. and Dourmad, J.-Y. (2014). Evaluation of the environmental implications of the incorporation of feed-use amino acids in pig production using Life Cycle Assessment, Livestock Science, 161, p.158-175.

Gardner, J. A. A., Dunkin, A. C., and Lloyd, L. C. (eds.) (1990). Pig production in Australia. Available at - https://www.elsevier.com/books/pig-production-in-australia/9780409325256: Butterworth-Heinemann.

Garnett, T. (2011). Where are the best opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the food system (including the food chain)?, *Food policy*, 36, p.S23-S32.

Gerber, P., Vellinga, T., Opio, C. and Steinfeld, H. (2011). Productivity gains and greenhouse gas emissions intensity in dairy systems, *Livestock Science*, 139(1-2), p.100-108.

Gerber, P. J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., Falcucci, A. and Tempio, G. (2013). Tackling climate change through livestock: a global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).

González-García, S., Belo, S., Dias, A. C., Rodrigues, J. V., da Costa, R. R., Ferreira, A., de Andrade, L. P. and Arroja, L. (2015). Life cycle assessment of pigmeat production: Portuguese case study and proposal of improvement options, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 100, p.126-139.

Goodband, R. D., Tokach, M. D. and Nelssen, J. L. (1995). Effects of diet particle size on animal performance.

Gustavsson, J., Cederberg, C., Sonesson, U., Van Otterdijk, R. and Meybeck, A. (2011). Global Food Losses and Food Waste. Rome, Italy: Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (FAO).

Groen, E., Van Zanten, H., Heijungs, R., Bokkers, E. and De Boer, I. (2016). Sensitivity analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from a pork production chain, *Journal of cleaner production*, 129, p.202-211.

Haasken, C., Binder, M. and Rother, E. (2015). LCA evaluation on the low emission farm concept, In Kaufmann, T., (2015). Sustainable livestock production: Low emission farm–The innovative combination of nutrient, emission and waste management with special emphasis on Chinese pig production. *Animal Nutrition*, 1(3), p.104-112, *Animal Nutrition*, 1(3), p.104-112.

Harrison, M. T., Cullen, B. R., Tomkins, N. W., McSweeney, C., Cohn, P. and Eckard, R. J. (2016). The concordance between greenhouse gas emissions, livestock production and profitability of extensive beef farming systems, *Animal Production Science*, 56(3), p.370-384.

Hermesch, S. (2004). Genetic improvement of lean meat growth and feed efficiency in pigs, *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 44(5), p.383-391.

Holyoake, T., Kruger, I., Morgan, J., and Laffan, J. (2018). Pig Production: the basics: AgGuide - A Practical Handbook. New South Wales Government - Department of Trade & Investment.

Kaufmann, T. (2015). Sustainable livestock production: Low emission farm–The innovative combination of nutrient, emission and waste management with special emphasis on Chinese pig production, *Animal Nutrition*, 1(3), p.104-112.

Kumm, K.-I. (2003). Ways to reduce nitrogen pollution from Swedish pork production, *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, 66(3), p.285-293.

Kyriazakis, I. (2011). Opportunities to improve nutrient efficiency in pigs and poultry through breeding, *Animal*, 5(6), p.821-832.

Lamnatou, C., Ezcurra-Ciaurriz, X., Chemisana, D. and Plà-Aragonés, L. (2016). Environmental assessment of a pork-production system in North-East of Spain focusing on life-cycle swine nutrition, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 137, p.105-115.

Lapidge, S. (2015). Primary Production Food Losses: Turning Losses into Profit. South Australia: Department of Primary Industries and Regions, South Australia (PIRSA).

Le, P., Aarnink, A., Jongbloed, A., Van der Peet-Schwering, C., Ogink, N., and Verstegen, M. (2008). Interactive effects of dietary crude protein and fermentable carbohydrate levels on odour from pig manure, Livestock Science, 114(1), p.48-61.

Llewellyn, R. S., D'Emden, F. H. and Kuehne, G. (2012). Extensive use of no-tillage in grain growing regions of Australia, Field Crops Research, 132, p.204-212.

Lopez-Ridaura, S., Van Der Werf, H., Paillat, J. M., and Le Bris, B. (2009). Environmental evaluation of transfer and treatment of excess pig slurry by life cycle assessment, *Journal of Environmental Management*, 90(2), p.1296-1304.

MacLeod, M., Gerber, P., Mottet, A., Tempio, G., Falcucci, A., Opio, C., Vellinga, T., Henderson, B., and Steinfeld, H. (2013). Greenhouse gas emissions from pig and chicken supply chains–A global life cycle assessment, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome, 171.

Manyi-Loh, C., Mamphweli, S., Meyer, E., Okoh, A., Makaka, G., and Simon, M. (2013). Microbial anaerobic digestion (bio-digesters) as an approach to the decontamination of animal wastes in pollution control and the generation of renewable energy, *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 10(9), p.4390-4417.

McAuliffe, G., Takahashi, T., Mogensen, L., Hermansen, J. E., Sage, C., Chapman, D. V., and Lee, M. (2017). Environmental trade-offs of pig production systems under varied operational efficiencies, *Journal of cleaner production*, 165, p.1163-1173.

McElhone, C. and Philip, G. 2004. Australian Pig Annual 2003. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

McElhone, C. and Philip, G. 2005. Australian Pig Annual 2004. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

McLaren, D. Recent developments in genetic improvement of pigs. Manitoba Swine Seminar.

Meul, M., Ginneberge, C., Van Middelaar, C. E., de Boer, I. J., Fremaut, D., and Haesaert, G. (2012). Carbon footprint of five pig diets using three land use change accounting methods, *Livestock Science*, 149(3), p.215-223.

National Water Commission. (2011). Water markets in Australia. Available athttp://apo.org.au/system/files/27438/apo-nid27438-101806.pdf: Australian Government

Nguyen, T. L. T., Hermansen, J. E. and Mogensen, L. (2010). Fossil energy and GHG saving potentials of pig farming in the EU, *Energy Policy*, 38(5), p.2561-2571.

Noya, I., Villanueva-Rey, P., González-García, S., Fernandez, M., Rodriguez, M. and Moreira, M. (2017). Life Cycle Assessment of pig production: A case study in Galicia, *Journal of cleaner production*, 142, p.4327-4338.

NSW DPI 2006. Understanding the pork industry. Available at https://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/62916/Understanding_the_pork_industry-Primefact_105-final.pdf: NSW DPI.

OECD. (2018). World meat projections, OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2018-2027. Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/agr_outlook-2018-table111-en: OECD Publishing.

Ogino, A., Osada, T., Takada, R., Takagi, T., Tsujimoto, S., Tonoue, T., Matsui, D., Katsumata, M., Yamashita, T. and Tanaka, Y. (2013). Life cycle assessment of Japanese pig farming using low-protein diet supplemented with amino acids, *Soil science and plant nutrition*, 59(1), p.107-118.

Owsley, W. F., Knabe, D. and Tanksley Jr, T. (1981). Effect of sorghum particle size on digestibility of nutrients at the terminal ileum and over the total digestive tract of growing-finishing pigs, *Journal of Animal Science*, 52(3), p.557-566.

Pfister, S., Koehler, A. and Hellweg, S. (2009). Assessing the Environmental Impacts of Freshwater Consumption in LCA, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 43(11), p.4098-4104.

Philippe, F.-X. and Nicks, B. (2015). Review on greenhouse gas emissions from pig houses: Production of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide by animals and manure, *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 199, p.10-25.

Piot-Lepetit, I. and Le Moing, M. (2007). Productivity and environmental regulation: the effect of the nitrates directive in the French pig sector, *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 38(4), p.433-446.

Pirlo, G., Carè, S., Della Casa, G., Marchetti, R., Ponzoni, G., Faeti, V., Fantin, V., Masoni, P., Buttol, P. and Zerbinatti, L. (2016). Environmental impact of heavy pig production in a sample of Italian farms. A cradle to farm-gate analysis, *Science of the Total Environment*, 565, p.576-585.

Pork CRC (2017). Benchmarked Australian pork producers cop a hit. Available at http://porkcrc.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Pork-CRC-Initiatives-March-2017-<u>Circulation.pdf</u>: Pork CRC (Online).

Prapaspongsa, T., Christensen, P., Schmidt, J. H. and Thrane, M. (2010). LCA of comprehensive pig manure management incorporating integrated technology systems, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 18(14), p.1413-1422.

Pré-Consultants (2018). SimaPro 8.5 Software, Amersfoort, Netherlands: Pré-Consultants. QLD DAF (2013) Nutrients pigs need and diets, Available at - <u>https://www.daf.qld.gov.au/business-priorities/animal-industries/pigs/feed-nutrition/nutrients-diets</u>: Queensland Government Department of Agriculture and Fisheries.

Radcliffe, J. C. R., G. E., Australian Agricultural Council- Pig Subcommittee, CSIRO. (1987). Feeding standards for Australian livestock: Pigs. East Melbourne: CSIRO for the Standing Committee on Agriculture Pig Subcommittee.

Reckmann, K. and Krieter, J. (2015). Environmental impacts of the pork supply chain with regard to farm performance, The Journal of Agricultural Science, 153(3), p.411-421.

Reckmann, K., Traulsen, I. and Krieter, J. (2013). Life Cycle Assessment of pork production: A data inventory for the case of Germany, *Livestock Science*, 157(2-3), p.586-596.

Rigolot, C., Espagnol, S., Robin, P., Hassouna, M., Béline, F., Paillat, J.-M. and Dourmad, J.-Y. (2010). Modelling of manure production by pigs and NH 3, N 2 O and CH 4 emissions. Part II: effect of animal housing, manure storage and treatment practices, *Animal*, 4(8), p.1413-1424.

Ripoll-Bosch, R., De Boer, I., Bernués, A. and Vellinga, T. V. (2013). Accounting for multifunctionality of sheep farming in the carbon footprint of lamb: a comparison of three contrasting Mediterranean systems', *Agricultural Systems*, 116, p.60-68.

Ritchie, H. and Roser, M. (2018). Meat and Seafood Production & Consumption. Available at https://ourworldindata.org/meat-and-seafood-production-consumption: Our World in Data (online).

Roese, G. J. (1990). 17 - Feeding Methods, in Gardner, J.A.A., Dunkin, A.C. & Lloyd, L.C. (eds.) Pig Production in Australia (Second Edition): Butterworth-Heinemann, p.95-99.

Rotz, C. A. (2018). Modeling greenhouse gas emissions from dairy farms, *Journal of dairy science*, 101(7), p.6675-6690.

Sajeev, E. P. M., Amon, B., Ammon, C., Zollitsch, W. and Winiwarter, W. (2018). Evaluating the potential of dietary crude protein manipulation in reducing ammonia emissions from cattle and pig manure: A meta-analysis, Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 110(1), p.161-175.

Schell, T., van Heugten, E. and Harper, A. (2001). Pork Industry Handbook: Managing Feed Waste. Available at - <u>https://www.extension.purdue.edu/extmedia/AS/07-04-01.pdf</u>: Purdue University (Online).

Seradj, A. R., Balcells, J., Morazan, H., Alvarez-Rodriguez, J., Babot, D. and De la Fuente, G. (2018). The impact of reducing dietary crude protein and increasing total dietary fiber on hindgut fermentation, the methanogen community and gas emission in growing pigs, *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 245, p.54-66.

Skerman, A., Wilis, S., Mcgahan, E. and Marquardt, B. (2015). PigBal 4. A Model for Estimating Piggery Waste Production, Toowoomba, Australia: Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (DAFF).

Skerman, A.G., (2017). Practical options for cleaning biogas prior to on-farm use at piggeries.

Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K., Tignor, M. and Miller, H. (2007). Climate change 2007 - the physical science basis: Working group I contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC. Cambridge University Press.

Sonesson, U., Lorentzon, K., Andersson, A., Barr, U., Bertilsson, J., Brunius, C., Emanuelsson, M., Borch, E., Göransson, L. and Gunnarsson, S. 'Paths to a sustainable food sector guided by LCAexemplified by pork production'. Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Life Cycle Assessment in the Agri-Food Sector (LCA Food 2014), San Francisco, California, USA, 8-10 October, 2014: American Center for Life Cycle Assessment, 1255-1264.

Taylor, G. and Clark, W. (1990). Advantages of using wet and dry feeders, *The Australian Pork Journal*, (12(9)).

Taylor, G., Kruger, I. and Ferrier, M. (1994). Plan it-build it. [Australian Pig Housing Series]. New South Wales Agriculture.

The Pig Site (2005). Tips for saving water. Available at – <u>http://www.thepigsite.com/articles/1320/tips-for-saving-water/</u>: Online.

Tokach, M. D., Goodband, B. D. and O'Quinn, T. G. (2016). Performance-enhancing technologies in swine production, *Animal Frontiers*, 6(4), p.15-21.

Torres-Pitarch, A., Hermans, D., Manzanilla, E. G., Bindelle, J., Everaert, N., Beckers, Y., Torrallardona, D., Bruggeman, G., Gardiner, G. E. and Lawlor, P. G. (2017). Effect of feed enzymes on digestibility and growth in weaned pigs: A systematic review and meta-analysis, *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 233, p.145-159.

Velthof, G. L., Nelemans, J. A., Oenema, O. and Kuikman, P. J. (2005). Gaseous nitrogen and carbon losses from pig manure derived from different diets, *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 34(2), p.698-706.

Vergé, X., Dyer, J., Desjardins, R. and Worth, D. (2009). Greenhouse gas emissions from the Canadian pork industry, *Livestock Science*, 121(1), p.92-101.

Villamar, C.-A., Vera-Puerto, I., Rivera, D. and De la Hoz, F. (2018). Reuse and recycling of livestock and municipal wastewater in Chilean agriculture: a preliminary assessment, *Water*, 10(6), p.817.

Waghorn, G. and Hegarty, R. (2011). Lowering ruminant methane emissions through improved feed conversion efficiency, *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 166, p.291-301.

Wall, E., Simm, G. and Moran, D. (2010). Developing breeding schemes to assist mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions, *Animal*, 4(3), p.366-376.

Walsh, L. and Bottari, N. (2008). Australian Pig Annual 2006-2008. Deakin West: Australian Pork Limited.

Watson, W. D., Reynolds, R. G., Collins, D. J. and Hunter, R. D. (1983). Agricultural water demand and issues – Water 2000: Consultants Report No.5.. Canberra: Department of Resources and Energy. Australian Government Publishing Service.

Wiedemann, S., Henry, B., McGahan, E., Grant, T., Murphy, C. and Niethe, G. (2015). Resource Use and Greenhouse Gas Intensity of Australian Beef Production: 1981–2010, Agricultural Systems, 133, p.109-118.

Wiedemann, S., McGahan, E. and Murphy, C. (2012). Energy, Water and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Australian Pork Supply Chains: A Life Cycle Assessment, Toowoomba, QLD: Pork Cooperative Research Centre (CRC).

Wiedemann, S., McGahan, E. and Murphy, C. (2017). Environmental impacts and Resource Use From Australian Pork Production Determined Using Life Cycle Assessment. 2. Energy, Water and Land Occupation, *Animal Production Science*, In press and online only.

Wiedemann, S., McGahan, E., Murphy, C. and Yan, M. (2016a). Resource Use and Environmental Impacts From Beef Production in Eastern Australia Investigated Using Life Cycle Assessment, *Animal Production Science*, 56(5), p.882-894.

Wiedemann, S., McGahan, E. J. and Murphy, C. M. (2016b). Environmental Impacts and Resource Use From Australian Pork Production Assessed Using Life-Cycle Assessment. I. Greenhouse Gas Emissions, *Animal Production Science*, 56(9), p.1418-1431.

Wiedemann, S., Sullivan, T. and McGahan, E. (2014). GHG Prediction Methods for Feedlots, Poultry and Pigs, Technical Report for the Department of Environment Greenhouse Gas Inventory Team, Australia: Federal Department of the Environment (DofE).

Wiedemann, S. and Watson, K. (2018). The Low Emission Future of Pork: A Consequential Life Cycle Assessment Study of Australian Pork Production, Australia: CRC for High Integrity Australian Pork (Pork CRC).

Wiedemann, S.G. (2018). Analysis of resource use and greenhouse gas emissions from four Australian meat production systems, with investigation of mitigation opportunities and trade-offs.

Willis, S. 'The use of AUSPIG to predict the extent and economic value of feed wastage in Queensland piggeries'. Darling Downs pig science seminar 1999, proceedings of the third pig science seminar.

Wondra, K., Hancock, J., Behnke, K., Hines, R. and Stark, C. (1995). Effects of particle size and pelleting on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and stomach morphology in finishing pigs, *Journal of animal science*, 73(3), p.757-763.

Zervas, S. and Zijlstra, R. (2002). Effects of dietary protein and fermentable fiber on nitrogen excretion patterns and plasma urea in grower pigs, *Journal of Animal Science*, 80(12), p.3247-3256.

Zhang, G., Yang, Z., Wang, Y., Yang, W. and Zhou, H. (2014). Effects of dietary supplementation of multi-enzyme on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, small intestinal digestive enzyme activities, and large intestinal selected microbiota in weanling pigs, *Journal of animal science*, 92(5), p.2063-2069.

Zuo, J., Ling, B., Long, L., Li, T., Lahaye, L., Yang, C. and Feng, D. (2015). Effect of dietary supplementation with protease on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, intestinal morphology, digestive enzymes and gene expression of weaned piglets, *Animal Nutrition*, 1(4), p.276-282.

7 Appendix I – Supporting Information

Please note that the Appendix has been modified to a journal format and is referred to as "Supporting Information" (SI) in text.

7.1 Herd inventory data

Liveweight was determined by adjusting the total tonnes of dressed weight pork produced to liveweight with dressing percentages. Namely, as porkers have a poorer dressing percentage compared to finishers, the dressing percentage was altered by 0.5% between decades from 74.5% in 1980 to 76.5% in 2020 to reflect the higher proportion of porkers historically. Liveweight sold per sow per year was determined by first adjusting the total tonnes of dressed weight pork produced to liveweight, then dividing by total sow numbers (ABS, 1999-2018). Average sale weight of finisher pigs was determined by first adjusting the total tonnes of dressed weight pork produced to liveweight, then dividing by total sow numbers (ABS, 2017). The average sale weight of finisher pigs was determined by subtracting birth weight (1.4kg) from the average sale weight of finisher pigs, then dividing by the average daily gain (estimated using PigBal, Skerman et al., 2015). Tables 6 to 10.

Category	Units	1980	Notes	Reference
Weaning age	days	34.3	Average	Pig Journal Vol 4: Are traditional creep diets costing you to much?
Litters per sow per year	#	2.1	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 8 (1985): Tom uses liquid feeding to improve feed conversion and productivity McErlane Vol 12(9) Rags to riches shows there is still room for family business Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Paton, D. (1987) NSW herd performance not very impressive Paton, D. (1982) How and why a Cowra couple are building a new piggery Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year	#	19.6	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency

Table 6 1980 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources

				Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency
				Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper
				use of computer bureau service.
				Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit
				Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16
				piglet/sow/year with a little more effort
Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	13.9	Calculation	ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Liveweight sold	1	1022.4	Calandarian	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to
per sow per year	кд	1022.4	Calculation	live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.
Average sale				ARS (2018) Total toppos drossed weight produced (adjusted to
weight of finisher	kg	75	Calculation	live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter big numbers
pigs				
				(Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG
Average age of	days	144	Calculation	((ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to
finisher pigs				live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers) –
				1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG
Average daily				
gain (wean-	gram/day	500	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
slaughter)				
FCR (grower				
herd)	FCR	3.5	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
,				Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16
				piglet/sow/year with a little more effort
				Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit
				Sloane, J. (1982) Piggery performance analysis now available to
FCR (whole	FCR	52	Average	Queensland producers.
herd)		52	/ Well age	Cutler and Treacy vol 12 (10)
				Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent
				food mill to improve officiency
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency
				Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent
Pigs weaned per	#	14.7	Average	Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service.
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year Pigs sold per	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	14.7	Average	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year Pigs sold per Sow per Year Liveweight sold	# #	I4.7 I3.9	Average Calculation	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year Pigs sold per Sow per Year Liveweight sold per sow per year	# # kg	14.7 13.9 1022.4	Average Calculation Calculation	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year Pigs sold per Sow per Year Liveweight sold per sow per year Average sale	# # kg	14.7 13.9 1022.4 75	Average Calculation Calculation	 Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit margins Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Lean, A. Jul (9) AIMS figures show cost benefits from the proper use of computer bureau service. Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.

Average age of finisher pigs days		days	144	Calculation	(Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG ((ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers) – 1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG
Average gain finisher slaughte	e daily (wean- er)	gram/day	500	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR herd)	(grower	FCR	3.5	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR herd)	(whole	FCR	52	Average	 Barker, I. (1980) No reason why we cannot produce 14-16 piglet/sow/year with a little more effort Curtis, F. (1983) Pilot study shows larger herds profit Sloane, J. (1982) Piggery performance analysis now available to Queensland producers. Cutler and Treacy vol 12 (10) Pig Journal Vol 7 (1984): Producer support helps independent feed mill to improve efficiency Pig Journal Vol 4: Victorian Producers suffer reduced profit

Table 7 1990 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources

Category	Units	1990	Notes	Reference
Weaning age	days	24.5	Average	PigStat (1993, 1996)
Litters per sow per year	#	2.2	Average	PigStat (1993, 1996)
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year	#	22.9	Average	PigStat (1993, 1996)
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	19.9	Average	PigStat (1993, 1996)
Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	17.9	Calculation	ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Liveweight sold per sow per year	kg	373.7	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.
Average sale weight of finisher pigs	kg	84.9	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers.
Average age of finisher pigs	days	146	Calculation	(Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG ((ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers) – 1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG
Average daily gain (wean- finisher slaughter)	gram/day	568	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (grower herd)	FCR	3.1	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation

FCR (whole herd)	FCR	4.4	Average	PigStat (1993)
------------------	-----	-----	---------	----------------

Category	Units	2000	Notes	Reference
Weaning age	days	21.0	Average	PigStat (1999, 2000)
Litters per sow per year	#	2.2	Average	PigStat (1999, 2000)
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year	#	22.6	Average	PigStat (1999, 2000)
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	19.4	Average	PigStat (1999, 2000)
Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	17.5	Calculation	ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Liveweight sold per sow per year	kg	1807.9	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.
Average sale weight of finisher pigs	kg	96.0	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers.
Average age of finisher pigs	days	161	Calculation	(Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG ((ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers) – 1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG
Average daily gain (wean- finisher slaughter)	gram/day	586	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (grower herd)	FCR	2.9	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (whole herd)	FCR	3.6	Average	PigStat (1999, 2000)

Table 8 2000 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources

Table 9 2010 Australian pig herd performance data and data sources

Category	Units	2010	Notes	Reference
Weaning age	days	23.2	Average	Australian Pig Annual (2010-2011, 2011- 2012)
Litters per sow per year	#	2.3	Average	Australian Pig Annual (2010-2011, 2011- 2012)
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year	#	24.8	Average	Australian Pig Annual (2010-2011, 2011- 2012)
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	21.5	Average	Australian Pig Annual (2010-2011, 2011- 2012)
Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	19.1	Calculation	ABS (2017) Slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers
Liveweight sold per sow per year	kg	1839.5	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) sow numbers.
Average sale weight of	kg	97.2	Calculation	ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight

finisher pigs Average age of finisher pigs	days	150	Calculation	produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers. (Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG ((ABS (2018) Total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) total slaughter pig numbers) – 1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG
Average daily gain (wean- finisher slaughter)	gram/day	636	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (grower herd)	FCR	2.5	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (whole herd)	FCR	3.2	Average	Australian Pig Annual (2010-2011, 2011- 2012)

Table 10 2020 Australian pig her performance data and data sources

Category	Units	2020	Notes	Reference
Weaning age	days	22.3	Prediction- excel forecast	Using: Pigstat (1993, 1996, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006) and Australian Pig Annual (2006-2008, 2009- 2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012)
Litters per sow per year	#	2.3	Prediction- excel forecast	Using: Pigstat (1993, 1996, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006) and Australian Pig Annual (2006-2008, 2009- 2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012)
Pigs born alive per Sow per Year	#	25.8	Prediction- excel forecast	Using: Pigstat (1993, 1996, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006) and Australian Pig Annual (2006-2008, 2009- 2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012)
Pigs weaned per Sow per Year	#	23.1	Prediction- excel forecast	Using: Pigstat (1993, 1996, 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006) and Australian Pig Annual (2006-2008, 2009- 2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012)
Pigs sold per Sow per Year	#	19.9	Calculation	ABS (2017) predicted slaughter numbers divided by ABS (1999-2018) predicted sow numbers
Liveweight sold per sow per year	Kg	2276.3	Calculation	ABS (2018) predicted total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (1999-2018) predicted sow numbers.
Average sale weight of finisher pigs	Kg	97.2	Calculation	ABS (2018) predicted total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) predicted total slaughter pig numbers.
Average age of finisher pigs	days	138	Calculation	(Average sale weight- birth weight)/ ADG ((ABS (2018) predicted total tonnes dressed weight produced (adjusted to live weight) divided by ABS (2017) predicted total slaughter pig numbers) – 1.4 kg)/ PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation ADG

Average daily gain (wean-finisher slaughter)	gram/day	693	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (grower herd)	FCR	2.3	Modelled	PigBal 4 (Skerman et al., 2015) estimation
FCR (whole herd)	FCR	2.9	Prediction	Using Australian Pig Annual (2006-2008, 2009-2010, 2010-2011, 2011-2012), Wiedemann et al., 2016; Pork CRC, 2017 and Wiedemann and Watson, 2018.

7.2 Herd productivity

At the national level, the number of pigs slaughtered, divided by the number of sows, provides an estimated number of pigs sold per sow per year, an important herd productivity parameter. Similarly, the number of pigs sold / sow provides an indication of the number of litters annually, and therefore the average age and growth rate of sale pigs. These data can therefore be used to estimate the key features of the Australian breeding herd, and this was the approach applied in the present study.

Modifications were required to determine appropriate herd characteristics from these data. Firstly, pig slaughter numbers and slaughter weights were assumed to include cull breeders from the pig breeder herd, which are processed with the finisher pigs. The first adjustment made was to remove the number of slaughtered breeder sows to provide a predicted number of slaughtered finisher pigs. The number of cull breeder sows was estimated to equal the number of gilt replacement sows less the breeder mortalities. With the average slaughter weight and dressing percentage, the age at slaughter was calculated along with the number of pig cycles/year.

For comparison with the above herd data estimation method, a wide-ranging review was undertaken of historical data sources to investigate the key parameters and the correlation between these and the estimates based on ABS. This analysis showed a systematic over-prediction in the weight of slaughter pigs in the literature compared to the national slaughter statistics, with the error being greatest in the first two decades (where representative data sources were more difficult to find). The more recent decades showed a better correlation between estimates made using ABS datasets and industry data from PigStats and APL surveys.

7.2.1 National standard diets

7.2.1.1 Diet trends

Trends data from large piggeries and consultation with long term industry nutritionists were used to determine diet trends from 1980 to 2020. The following section details the modification that were applied to the 2010 base diets.

7.2.1.2 Digestibility

A large number of studies have shown particle size reduction increases the surface area of the grain, thus allowing for greater interaction with pig digestive enzymes, improving the digestibility of feed (Fan et al., 2017, Bao et al., 2016, Wondra et al., 1995, Goodband et al., 1995, Owsley et al., 1981). Additionally, in modern pig diets, enzymes are added to increase digestibility. Torres-Pitarch et al (2017) found that enzyme complexes including protease and mannanase improve nutrient digestibility. Similarly, O'Connell et al (2005), Emiola et al (2009), Patience et al (1992),

Mavromichalis et al (2000), Zhang et al (2014) and Jo et al., (2012) found that enzyme supplementation can improve digestibility in pig diets.

Diet digestibly was corrected between decades to account for improvement in particle size optimisation and the inclusion of enzymes in Australian pig diets (QLD DAF, 2018, Edwards, 2014, Choct et al., 2004, Nguyen et al., 2015, I'Anson et al., 2013, NSW DPI, 2013, NSW DPI, 2014). On average, digestibility was reduced by 6%, 4% and 2% in the 1980, 1990 and 2000 respectively. The digestibility of 2010 base diets were not changed, as the digestibility in the PigBal model reflects 2010 diet digestibility values, while the digestibility of 2020 was increased by 1% to conservatively reflect the improvements in digestibility and increased use of enzymes in pig diets.

7.2.1.3 Oilseed meals

Most producers only used Australian-grown ration components in the 1980's, but in the following decades, changes in the type of protein meals used were observed. Animal protein meals were used at high rates in the early part of the study period, but declined as these were replaced with oilseed meals and synthetic amino acids. Market trends of oilseed meals (that were used in each state) were investigated, and decade diets were adjusted accordingly. The proportion of oilseed meal has increased in pig diets, replacing animal-based protein meal over the study period. The proportion of soy and canola meal were predicted from trends identified from industry reports on protein meal use (Pork CRC, 2007, Willis, 2003, Mailer, 2004 and Feed Grain Partnership, 2016) and soybean meal import volumes (Figure SI 1). Figure SI 1 shows the tonnes of soybean imported into Australia has significantly increased from 1964 to 2017, and this expansion was driven by increased demand for soymeal in pig and poultry diets. The source of imported soybeans has varied considerably from 1980 to 2010 (Table SI I). These reports indicated the total tonnes of soy and canola meal used at different time points during the study period, enabling estimation of the percentage of these in the ration. These trends were also compared to diets accessed from large-scale commercial piggeries, and diet formulations from industry nutritionists (S. Willis pers. comm). The trend showed an increase in soymeal and canola meal over the study period.



Figure SI I Total tonnes of soybean imported into Australia from 1964 to 2017 (Index Mundi, 2018)

		Source of soybean imports (% of soybean import)				
	Tonnes imported	USA	China	Brazil	Argentina	
1980 ^a	16000	61.00	36.00	0.50	0.00	
1990	41000	94.00	0.00	0.62	0.00	
2000	263000	13.00	0.00	86.00	0.00	
2010	589000	46.00	0.00	0.28	52.00	
2020 ^a	930873	0.07	0.62	2.50	96.00	

Table SI I Tonnes of soybean imported and source in 1980, 1990, 2000, 2010, 2020 (OEC, 2018)

^a 1980 and 2020 soybean import countries predicted by authors from historic trends from 1990-2017

In the early 1990s canola became a major crop in Australia (Colton and Potter, 2007), with the use of canola meal increasing in pig diets. In recent years, canola meal has been used to replace soybean meal in QLD and NSW/VIC (Edwards, 2013).

The lupins and field peas pig diet component have been produced in Australia over the study period. Lupin production in WA peaked in late 1990 to early 2000 and from 2010 onwards has been stable (WA DPIRD, 2018), while the production of field peas in SA has been stable since the 1990s (Pulse Australia Limited, 2016). Table SI 2 shows the modifiers that were applied to the base diet for lupin and field pea oilseed meals based on market trends.

Year	Lupins	Field peas
1980	I	0.75
1990	1.25	I
2000	1.5	I
2010	I	I
2020	I	I

Table SI 2 Lupin and field pea meals diet modifiers used in study

7.2.1.4 Synthetic Amino Acids

The industrial application of amino acids for animal feed started in the late 1950's. The synthetic production of DL-Methionine began in the late 1950's and was used in poultry feed. The synthetic production of L-Lysine began in the 1960's (Toride, 2004). By the late 1980's DL-Methionine and L-Lysine, HCl, L-Threonine and L-Tryptophan were being produced synthetically (Toride, 2004). Initially, the cost of production was quite high which limited the application in the pig industry in the 1980's. However, with progress in biotechnology, the cost of production of synthetic amino acids has been significantly reduced. This has led to an expansion in the use of amino acids in Australian pig feed. Since the 1990's, synthetic DL-Methionine and L-Lysine have been commonly used in Australian pig diets. While synthetic Threonine and L-Tryptophan are available, their high production costs limit their application.

Australian research into the lysine requirements in finisher pigs in a commercial setting found that lysine requirement for finishing pigs of modern Australian genotypes is substantially higher than used commercially to date (Edwards et al., 2013). For optimal average daily gain, FCR, carcase gain and profitability the lysine requirement was estimated to be 0.62 to 0.64 gm available lysine/MJ dietary energy (Edwards et al., 2013). As pig diets are further researched and refined to achieve the optimum lysine requirements, it is expected that all Australian pig diets will change to reflect these refinements. Table SI 3 shows the modifiers that were applied to the base diet for SAA based on manufacturing and application trends.

Year	SAA
1980	0.2
1990	0.25
2000	0.5
2010	I
2020	1.25

Table SI 3 SAA diet modifiers

7.2.1.5 Feed wastage

Feed wastage was estimated from the type of feed, feed presentation (feeder type) and predicted FCR. The type of feed used has been found to influence feed wastage. According to Roese (1990) the use of pellets in floor feeding can improve growth rate by 6-7% and FCR by 7-8% when compared to regular mash. The use of pellets in non-floor feeding system can also improve growth rate by 3.5% and FCR by 1.5% when compared to regular mash (Roese, 1990). Roese (1990) also concluded that the improvements in growth rates and FCR are most likely due to the lowering of feed wastage. Liquid feeding was found to improve FCR by 10% when compared to mash (Roese, 1990). Taylor and Clark (1990) found that conventional self-feeders commonly result in feed wastage of 6-15%, however, this can be reduced to 0.5% with wet/dry feeders.

According to Willis (1999) the typical feed waste percent of floor feeding mash was 27%, while the average feed wastage of non-floor feeding mash was 17% (ranging from 12-20%) and pellets were 7.6% (ranging from 5-10%) respectively.

Table SI 4 shows the feed presentation assumptions for the national Australian pig herd from 1980-2020. The proportion of floor feeding and non-floor feeding, together with reported FCR rates, were used to predict feed wastage levels.

Feed presentation	Floor fed	Non-floor fed	Reference
Unit	%	%	
1980	78	22	Ballantyne and Wrathall (1984).
1990	54	46	Australian Pig Journal and
1770	51	10	survey
2000	33	67	Australian Pig Journal and
2000	55	0,	survey
2010	1	99	Australian Pig Journal and
2010			survey
2020	1	00	Predicted by authors from
	I	//	trends.

Table SI 4 Feed presentation proportions for the national Australian pig herd from 1980-2020

7.3 Housing and manure management systems

7.3.1 Housing definitions

Conventional housing refers to housing with partially or fully slatted floors where manure, urine, waste feed and water drop into channels or pits that are flushed or released regularly (generally twice per week) into open, anaerobic ponds. Outdoor housing refers to a system where pigs are allowed to range in an open paddock and are supplied with shelters. Deep litter refers to pigs being housed on litter (e.g. straw, sawdust, rice hulls) for the weaner, grower or finisher stage of production.

7.3.2 Emissions factors

Manure emissions were determined using the emission factors outlined in the Australian NIR (Commonwealth of Australia 2015), with the key factors shown in Table SI 5. These factors are not expected to change over time.

Emission source	Emission and units	Factor
Maximum methane potential	Ultimate methane yield (Bo)	0.45
Manure – emissions from uncovered anaerobic pond		0.75 (NSW)
		0.77 (QLD)
		0.74 (VIC)
	MCF	0.77 (WA)
Manure – emissions from outdoor (dry lot)		0.01 (WA)
Manure – emissions from deep litter		0.04 (NSW)
		0.04 (WA)
Manure – emissions from uncovered anaerobic pond	N2O-N ^a	0
Manure – emissions from outdoor (dry lot)	N2O-N ^a	0.02
Manure – emissions from deep litter	N2O-N ^a	0.01
Manure – emissions from uncovered anaerobic pond	NH3-Nª	0.55
Manure – emissions from outdoor (dry lot)	NH3-N ^a	0.3

Table SI 5 Piggery livestock greenhouse gas parameters

Manure – emissions from deep litter	NH3-N ^a	0.125
Manure – emissions from stockpile	MCF	0.02 (NSW)
	MCF	0.02 (WA)
	N2O-N ^b	0.005
	NH3-N ^b	0.2
Indirect N2O from volatilised NH3	N2O-N ^c	0.002

^a kilogram per kilogram of N excreted, ^b kilogram per kilogram of N flow to the stockpile, ^c kilogram per kilogram of N volatilised as NH₃-N.

7.4 Feed production data

Feed production impacts were evaluated for each decade by determining feed efficiency factors, yields and inputs from historic data sources. This involved looking at historical trends for fertiliser use, herbicide use, crop yield, tillage events, machinery fuel efficiency, irrigation rate and percentage of crop from irrigated land. National data were used for all trends except the percentage of crop from irrigated land and number of tillage events, which are described in subsequent sections. The crop production models used in the LCA model ranged from 2008-2012. As a result, it was assumed that 2010 inventory was the base year (i.e. 100%) and the values from the other decades were ratioed accordingly to provide factors to adjust the model. The exceptions to this were tillage events which were given as a per year basis and percentage of crop from irrigated land which was used as is. It is important to note that 2010 was at the end of a substantial drought period in Eastern Australia (BoM, 2015) which influenced the trends.

Historical data for the national quantities of nitrogen, phosphorous and potassium fertilisers purchased (Fertilizer Australia, 2017) was divided by the total national crop area of wheat, barley, oats, maize and sorghum (ABS, 2012) to determine change in application rates. Due to data limitations, 1983 values were used to represent 1980 and 2017 values used to represent 2020. In accordance with Wiedemann et al., 2016b, manure was included as an input to the modelled cereal crop systems used in the feed inventory, representing 0.6% of cereal crop fertiliser requirements nationally and was built into the fertiliser modifier value. Historical data for the national quantities of 2,4-D and glyphosate herbicide applied to wheat crops (Department of the Environment and Energy, 2006) were divided by the national wheat production in ha (ABS, 2012). Yearly herbicide use data was available from 1997-2006 and a linear forecast was used to estimate use for previous and future years. The glyphosate use in 1980 was modified to reflect its introduction as an agricultural herbicide in 1974. Figure SI 2 shows the historical trend in fertiliser and herbicide use relative to the 2010 base year. Both fertiliser and herbicide use were found to follow a similar trend.



Figure SI 2 Historical Australian fertiliser and herbicide use relative to 2010 year base

Historical crop yield data in tonnes per hectare for wheat, barley and maize was taken from ABS for 1980-2010 (ABS, 2012) and used to forecast for 2020. The yield percentage relative to the 2010 base year was averaged for the three crops to remove any bias from higher yield crops. Figure SI 3 shows the historical trend of yield relative to the 2010 base year in 5-year increments from 1970-2020.



Figure SI 3 Historical Australian crop yield relative to 2010 base year

Historical data on the number of tillage or cultivation events in Australian crop production per hectare per year was extrapolated from Llewellyn et al. (2012) for 1980-2000 and from ABS (2011) for 2010 and from ABS (2018) for 2020. Figure SI 4 shows the average national number of tillage events per hectare per year.



Figure SI 4 Historical Australian crop tillage events per hectare per year

Engine efficiency improvements in machinery used for grain production were determined by comparing the drawbar fuel efficiency of common tractors used for grain production in 1980 with tractors being used in 2018, using data from the Nebraska tractor tests reported by Tractor Data (Nebraska Tractor Test Laboratory, 2018). This was done by choosing a common mid-size tractor in 1980 (i.e. John Deere 6030, 111 kW drawbar power, 41.6 L hr-1) and a comparison tractor from the same manufacturer for 2018 (i.e. John Deere 8345R, 141 kW drawbar power, 58.7 L hr-1). These results showed drawbar fuel use (L kW-1) was 20% higher in 1980. Fuel use was consequently modelled using a linear interpolation of the rate of fuel efficiency improvement between 1980 and 2020 based on these data.

Historical irrigation data were taken from ABS (2005a, 2005b, 2006, 2008a, 2008b, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017) and Watson et al. (1983) for the area of cereal grain irrigated, application rate per hectare and the total quantity of water applied to the land. Any missing values were calculated either from two of the other parameters when available or in the case of 1990 through total water applied to the land and a linear forecast of application rate using the remaining values. Data from 2015-17 was used to predict 2020 values. Where possible a two year average was used for the irrigation data to improve accuracy. The trend for irrigation application rate per hectare was calculated by using the 2010 value as a base value. The yield percentage from irrigated crop was calculated assuming that irrigated crops have a yield of 6 tonnes per hectare and that the nonirrigated crops were a weighted average of ABS yield data for wheat, barley, maize and oats. The yield rates were multiplied by the total irrigated and non-irrigated crop land area to give a ratio of total yield between the two. Extrapolated state values were calculated using the available state yield from irrigated land values from 2002-17 (ABS, 1999, 2001, 2005a, 2005b, 2006, 2008a, 2008b, 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012a, 2012b, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017) and applying as an average against a national average of irrigated land area. Figure SI 5 shows the trend in contribution of irrigated grain to the total Australian crop.



Figure SI 5 Percentage of Australian crop yield from irrigated crop land

7.5 General services, water and energy

7.5.1 Electricity generation data

Electricity generation throughout the period was investigated at both state and national level. Data was taken from the Department of Environment and Energy – Australian Energy update 2016 and 2017. The data covered the period 1973-2016; state data was available from 1995 onwards and national data was available throughout. A linear forecast was used to predict 2020 values. Due to the increased electricity load during the period, the most polluting energy mix was in the year 2000 as the extra demand was met at the time with coal. Table SI 6 shows the national mix of electricity production energy sources.

Electricity energy					
source	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020
Black coal	51.11%	56.61%	58.96%	49.04%	35.83%
Brown coal	23.23%	21.71%	23.90%	22.22%	17.95%
Natural gas	9.28%	9.28%	7.74%	17.67%	23.98%
Oil	2.30%	2.30%	0.85%	1.23%	4.13%
Other ^a	0.00%	0.00%	0.00%	1.1 9 %	0.00%
Biomass/Biogas	0.00%	0.48%	0.54%	1.10%	1.73%
Wind	0.00%	0.00%	0.03%	2.00%	7.00%
Hydro-electric	14.07%	9.62%	7.96%	5.37%	5.22%
Solar	0.00%	0.00%	0.02%	0.17%	4.17%

Table SI 6 Australian energy supply source for electricity production

^a Includes multi-fuel fired power plants

7.5.2 Direct Piggery Water Use

7.5.2.1 Water Source

Piggery water use is influenced by herd numbers, housing type, water source and the proportion of irrigation water use in rations. The proportion of different water sources is reported in Table SI 7.

	1980	1990	2000	2010	2020
Dam (%)	25%	18%	12%	5%	5%
Bore (%)	25%	45%	65%	85%	85%
River/Creek (%)	14%	11%	8%	5%	5%
Reticulated (%)	30%	22%	13%	5%	5%
Other (%)	6%	4%	2%	0%	0%

Table SI 7 F	Piggery water	resources	the J	Australian	national	herd
--------------	---------------	-----------	-------	------------	----------	------

Data sources= 1980: Ballantyne and Wrathall (1984), 1990: Predicted by authors from trends, 2000: Predicted by authors from trends, 2010: Wiedemann et al., (2016) and 2020: Predicted by authors from trends.

7.5.2.2 Cleaning water for conventional piggeries

The medium flush cleaning system default (13 L. pig-1. day-1- PigBal 4) was used to estimate the cleaning water used for conventional piggeries. Additionally, change in recycled effluent use was investigated for each decade, and decade flushing water use adjusted accordingly (expert judgement) (Table SI 8). The following equation was used to determine cleaning water requirements:

Cleaning water requirement (ML. yr-1) = $(1 - \text{recycled percent (\%)})^*(\text{Total herd flushing water (L. day-1)}) * 365/1000000.$

Year	Percent of cleaning water from recycled effluent
1980	5%
1990	25%
2000	50%
2010	60%
2020	80%

Table SI 8 Percent of cleaning flushing water supplied from recycled effluent over 1980 to 2020

7.5.2.3 Drinking water

The following equation was used to estimate water intake for each class of pig, based on average pig feed intakes (citied in Wiedemann, 2012).

WI=FI x Wf x Tf

Where: WI = Water Intake (L. pig-1. day-1) FI = Feed intake (kg 'as-fed'. pig-1. day-1) Wf = Water Intake factor, (2.5 for growing pigs, 2.8 for gestating/lactating sows) Tf = Temperature factor, (1.6 for lactating sows, 1.2 for all other pigs) A summary of drinking water intake by pig class is present in Table SI 19.

Pig class	Feed ingested (as fed) (kg. pig ⁻¹ . day ⁻¹)	Wf '	Tf '	Calculated water intake (L. pig ⁻¹ . day ⁻¹)
Gilts	2.50	2.5	1.2	7.50
Boars	2.30	2.5	1.2	6.90
Gestating sows	2.30	2.8	1.2	7.73
Lactating sows	4.50	2.8	1.6	20.16
Suckers	0.02	2.5	1.2	0.05
Weaner	0.90	2.5	1.2	2.70
Porker	1.75	2.5	1.2	5.25
Grower	2.45	2.5	1.2	7.35
Finisher	2.93	2.5	1.2	8.79

Table SI 9 Summary of drinking water intake by pig class

Wiedemann et al. (2012) reported drinking water wastage rates of 15 - 42%, which was influenced by a number of factors including drinker design, environmental factors, and pig behaviour. Similarly, Brooks (1994) found that growing/finishing pigs may waste up to 60% of the water from a nipple drinker, while Phillips et al., (1990) found that water wastage for sows can range from 23-80% of water use, depending on flow rate. Type of drinkers (e.g. trough, nipple, push-lever bowl, straw drinkers), drinker management and flow rate of the drinking water distribution system have a significant impact on drinking water wastage (Gonyou, 1996, Muhlbauer et al., 2011). The average PigBal drinking water wastage rate of 25% was used for 2010, with modifiers applied based on drinker type application and management trends (Table SI 10).

Year	Drinking water wastage modifier
1980	1.6
1990	1.4
2000	1.2
2010	1.0
2020	0.9

Table SI 10 Drinking water wastage modifiers over 1980 to 2020

7.5.2.4 Cooling water

Cooling water was estimated using recommendations from Taylor et al., (1994) and PigBal 4 default hours of cooling (540 hr per year, which is equivalent to 6 hr per day, over 90 days). Taylor et al., (1994) suggests spray cooling water use rates of 300 mL pig-1 hour-1 for sows, boars, grower and finisher pigs and a rate of 65 mL pig-1 hour-1 for weaners in Australian conditions.

Cooling water use (L. yr-1) = (pig number * 300 mL. pig-1. hour-1 * 540 hr per year)/1000.

7.5.2.5 Total water used

Table SI II describes the model assumptions used to calculate the total water use from each piggery type.

Piggery types	Total water used by piggery types
Conventional	Drinking water + drinking waste water+ cooling water + cleaning water
Deep litter	Drinking water + drinking waste water+ cooling water,
Outdoor	Drinking water + drinking waste water

Table SI I I Water use by piggery type

7.6 Soil carbon and land use change

Emissions associated with land use and land use change for cropland were calculated from national emissions values reported in the NIR. The national emissions (CO2-e) and area of land use associated (ha) were used to calculate a national (CO2-e/ha) emissions factor for cropland. The cropland emissions from the NIR were grouped in two categories, "Cropland remaining Cropland" and "Land Converted to Cropland". Data for "cropland remaining cropland" includes land use associated with rotational cropping/grazing practices, and accounts for carbon stock change associated with management practices including tillage and stubble management. Land Converted to Cropland remains in the conversion category for 50 years, and the ongoing emissions associated with the land use change are reported each year. These emissions include the carbon stock change and soil emissions associated with the conversion of land to cropland. The greenhouse gas emissions arising from land use change were applied to the area of cropland required to produce the feed for Ikg of pork LW.

7.7 References

ABS. (2005a). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2002-2003. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/E780C7632FC1A867CA2570A6 00763E5E?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2005b). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2003-2004. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/028658B547260860CA2571B500 752817?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2006). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2004-2005. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/64C5D228C93DDFD7CA25733 60014F053?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2008a). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2005-2006. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/902502BE6F61594CCA2574B10 0160196?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics. ABS. (2008b). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2006-2007. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/A63AE45CA2BFDB7FCA2575C 10012D267?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2009). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2007-2008. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/A63AE45CA2BFDB7FCA2575C 10012D267?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2010). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2008-2009. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/BD195A7121D97234CA25788C 0018028B?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2011). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2009-2010. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/EFDAEE6AF2B96EEACA257A2B 00179E13?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2012). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2010-2011. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/0A81F4939C855503CA257B7B0 0124EED?opendocument Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2013). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2011-2012. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/F21596640D138568CA257E530 01C8C30?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2014). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2012-2013. Available at -<u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/F21596640D138568CA257E530</u> 01C8C30?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2015). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2013-2014. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/3258159C2D1BDE77CA257FA1 00230C0C?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2016). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2014-2015. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/80B31733A7044914CA2581550 0117A1F?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2017). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2015-2016. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/allprimarymainfeatures/152A43BEC69B65C2CA258291 001AFCFB?opendocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2018). 4618.0 - Water Use on Australian Farms, 2016-2017. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/second+level+view?ReadForm&prodno=4618.0&viewtitl e=Water%20Use%20on%20Australian%20Farms~2016-

17~Latest~21/05/2018&&tabname=Past%20Future%20Issues&prodno=4618.0&issue=2016-17&num=&view=&: Australian Bureau of Statistics: Australian Bureau of Statistics. ABS. (1999). 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 1997-98. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.01997-98?OpenDocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS, (2001). 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 1999-00. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.01999-00?OpenDocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2012a). 7121.0 Agricultural Commodities 2010-11. Available at http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7121.02010-11?OpenDocument: Australian Bureau of Statistics.

ABS. (2012b). Historical Selected Agricultural commodities Australia: by State 1861-2010 Available at - <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/7124.02009-</u> <u>10?OpenDocument</u>: Australian Bureau of Statistics (Online).

ABS. (2017). 7215.0 Livestock Products, Australia, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). APL 2011. Australian Pig Annual 2010-2011. Australia, Australian Pork Limited (APL).

APL. (2017). Pork Industry in Australia 2015-16: Economic Contribution Report. <u>http://australianpork.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/key-messages-matrix-Pork-Industry-in-</u> <u>Australia-2015-16.pdf</u>

ANZECC & ARMCANZ. (1999). Effluent Management Guidelines for Intensive Piggeries in Australia. Canberra. Available at - <u>http://www.waterquality.gov.au/SiteCollectionDocuments/pub4-effluent-intensive-piggeries.pdf</u>: Australian Government Department of Agriculture Fisheries and Forestry.

Apostolidis, N., Hertle, C. and Young, R. (2011). Water recycling in Australia. *Water*, 3(3), p.869-881.

Australian Government Productivity Commission. (2005). Australian Pigmeat Industry, Report No. 35. Melbourne, Australia. Australian Government Productivity Commission

Ballantyne, E.R. and Wrathall, L.S. (1984). A Postal Survey of Intensive Pig Accommodation in Australia: Part I: the questionnaire and the responses. Australia, CSIRO Division of Building Research.

Bao Z, Li Y, Zhang J, Li L, Zhang P, Huang FR (2016). Effect of particle size of wheat on nutrient digestibility, growth performance, and gut microbiota in growing pigs. *Livestock Science*.183, p. 33-39.

BoM. (2015). Recent rainfall, drought and southern Australia's long-term rainfall decline. http://www.bom.gov.au/climate/updates/articles/a010-southern-rainfall-decline.shtml

Brooks, P. H. (1994). Water - Forgotten Nutrient and Novel Delivery System. In: Biotechnology in the Feed Industry. Nottingham Press. p. 211-234.

Capper, J. L. (2012). Is the grass always greener? Comparing the environmental impact of conventional, natural and grass-fed beef production systems. Department of Animal Sciences, Washington State University.

Choct, M., Selby, E., Cadogan, D. and Campbell, R. (2004). 'Effects of particle size, processing, and dry or liquid feeding on performance of piglets', Australian Journal of Agricultural Research, 55(2), p. 237-245.

Colton and Potter. (2007). Canola in Australia - The First 30 Years. http://www.australianoilseeds.com/commodity_groups/canola_association_of_australia/canola_in_au stralia__the_first_30_years

Commonwealth of Australia. (2015). Australian National Greenhouse Accounts: National Inventory Report 2013 Volume I, The Australian Government Submission to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, May 2015, Department of the Environment (DofE), Canberra, ACT. Culter, R 1989. Pig Production Outlook. The Australian Pork Journal, 12(1), p.12-16.

DAF. (2010). Nutrient needs. Australia, Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (DAF). Available at: <u>https://www.daf.qld.gov.au/business-priorities/animal-industries/pigs/feed-nutrition/nutrients-diets/nutrient-needs</u>.

Edwards. (2013). Can Canola meal replace Soybean meal? http://www.australianoilseeds.com/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/1156/Edwards.pdf

Edwards, T., Collins, C. and van Barneveld, R. (2013). Lysine requirement in finisher pigs – commercial validation. Available at: <u>https://australianpork.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/09/FACT-SHEET-Lysine-FINAL.pdf</u>.

Edwards, A.C. (2014). Effects of grind size in typical grower/finisher diets under commercial conditions. <u>http://porkcrc.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/4B-121-Final-Report-.pdf</u>

Emiola, I.A., Opapeju, F.O., Slominski, B.A. and Nyachoti, C.M., (2009). Growth performance and nutrient digestibility in pigs fed wheat distillers dried grains with solubles-based diets supplemented with a multicarbohydrase enzyme I. *Journal of Animal Science*, 87(7), p.2315-2322.

Fan, Y., Guo, P., Yang, Y., Xia, T., Liu, L. and Ma, Y., (2017). Effects of particle size and adaptation duration on the digestible and metabolizable energy contents and digestibility of various chemical constituents in wheat for finishing pigs determined by the direct or indirect method. *Asian-Australasian journal of animal sciences*, 30(4), p.554

Feed Grain Partnership (2014). Particle size – the smaller the better for pigs? http://www.feedgrainpartnership.com.au/items/902/FGP%20Technote%20No.8%20Particle%20size%2 0-%20the%20smaller%20the%20better%20for%20pigs_%20.pdf

Feed Grain Partnership (2016) Australian Feed Grain Supply and Demand Report 2016. Available athttp://www.sfmca.com.au/items/1093/FGP%20Report%20October%202016.pdf Fertilizer Australia (2017). Use Trends. https://www.fertilizer.org.au/Fertilizer-Industry/Use-Trends

Goodband, R.D., Tokach, M.D. and Nelssen, J.L. (1995). The effects of diet particle size on animal performance. MF–2050. Feed manufacturing. Kansas State Univ. Agric. Exp. Stn. Coop. Ext. Serv., Manhattan.

Gonyou, H.W. (1996). Water use and drinker management. Prairie Swine Centre, Saskatoon.

Holyoake, T, Kruger, I, Morgan, J, Laffan, J. (2018). Pig Production: the basics: AgGuide - A Practical Handbook.

Index Mundi (2018). Australia Soybean Meal Imports by Year. https://www.indexmundi.com/agriculture/?country=au&commodity=soybean-meal&graph=imports

Jo, J.K., Ingale, S.L., Kim, J.S., Kim, Y.W., Kim, K.H., Lohakare, J.D., Lee, J.H. and Chae, B.J.. (2012). Effects of exogenous enzyme supplementation to corn-and soybean meal-based or complex diets on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and blood metabolites in growing pigs. *Journal of animal science*, 90(9), p.3041-3048.

l'Anson, K.A., Choct, M. and Brooks, P.H., (2013). Effect of feed processing and enzyme supplementation on diet digestibility and performance of male weaner pigs fed wheat-based diets in dry or liquid form. *Animal Production Science*, 53(6), p.531-539.

Llewellyn, R.S., D'Emden, F.H. and Kuehne, G. (2012). Extensive use of no-tillage in grain growing regions of Australia. Field Crops Research, 132, p.204-212.

Mailer, R.. (2004). Canola meal; Limitations and opportunities. Australian Oil Seed Federation. New South Wales, Australia.

Mavromichalis, I., Hancock, J.D., Senne, B.W., Gugle, T.L., Kennedy, G.A., Hines, R.H. and Wyatt, C.L.. (2000). Enzyme supplementation and particle size of wheat in diets for nursery and finishing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 78(12), p.3086-3095.

Muhlbauer, R.V., Moody, L.B., Burns, R.T., Harmon, J. and Stalder, K. (2011). Water consumption and conservation techniques currently available for swine production.

Nebraska Tractor Test Laboratory. 2018.Test Reports. Available athttps://tractortestlab.unl.edu/testreports

Nguyen, G.T., Collins, C., Henman, D., Diffey, S., Tredrea, A.M., Black, J.L., Bryden, W.L., Gidley, M.J. and Sopade, P.A. (2015). Growth performance of weaner pigs fed diets containing grains milled to different particle sizes. II. Field pea. *Animal Production Science*, 55(12), p.1567-1567.

NSW DPI. (2014). Intensive pork production. https://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/520241/Intensive-pork-production.pdf NSW Department of Primary Industries. (2013). Pig nutrition: get the mix right <u>http://www.dpi.nsw.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf file/0007/469825/Pig-nutrition-get-the-mix-right.pdf</u>

O'Connell, J.M., Sweeney, T., Callan, J.J. and O'Doherty, J.V.. (2005). The effect of cereal type and exogenous enzyme supplementation in pig diets on nutrient digestibility, intestinal microflora, volatile fatty acid concentration and manure ammonia emissions from finisher pigs. *Animal Science*, 81(3), p.357-364.

Owsley, W.F., Knabe, D.A. and Tanksley Jr, T.D. (1981). Effect of sorghum particle size on digestibility of nutrients at the terminal ileum and over the total digestive tract of growing-finishing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science*, 52(3), p.557-566.

Patience, J.F., Bedford, M.R., Classen, H.L. and Inborr, J. (1992). The effect of dietary enzyme supplementation of rye-and barley-based diets on digestion and subsequent performance in weanling pigs. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, 72(1), p.97-105.

Phillips, P. A., D. Fraser and B. K. Thompson. (1990). The influence of water nipple flow rate and position, and room temperature on sow water intake and spillage. *Appl. Engin. Agric.* 6. p. 75-78.

Pork CRC. (2007) Canola Meal Value Chain Quality Improvement. Available athttp://www.porkcrc.com.au/Final_Report_IB-103.pdf

Pulse Australia Limited. (2016). Australian Field pea production 2010/11 to 2015/16. http://www.pulseaus.com.au/storage/app/media/industry/AU-field-pea-production.pdf

OEC. (2018). Where does Australia import Soybean Meal from? Available athttps://atlas.media.mit.edu/en/visualize/tree_map/hs92/import/aus/show/2304/2010/

QLD Department of Agriculture and fisheries. (2018). Digestible energy. <u>https://www.daf.qld.gov.au/business-priorities/animal-industries/pigs/feed-nutrition/nutrients-</u> <u>diets/digestible-energy</u>

Roese, G.J. (1990). Feeding Methods, in Gardner, J.A.A., Dunkin, A.C. and Lloyd, L.C. eds., 2013. Pig production in Australia. Elsevier, p.95-99.

Skerman A, Wilis S, Mcgahan E., and B. Marquardt. (2015). 'PigBal 4. A model for estimating piggery waste production.' Australia, Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (DAFF) and Australian Pork Limited (APL).

Taylor, G. and Clark, W. (1990). Advantages of using wet and dry feeders. The Australian Pork Journal, 12(9), p.20.

Taylor, G., Kruger, I. and Ferrier, M. (1994). Australian Pig Housing Series, 'Plan it – Build it', NSW Agriculture, Tamworth, NSW.

Toride, Y., (2004). Lysine and other amino acids for feed: production and contribution to protein utilization in animal feeding. Protein sources for the animal feed industry. Rome: FAO, pp.161-166. Available at: http://www.fao.org/docrep/007/y5019e/y5019e0a.htm.

Torres-Pitarch, A., Hermans, D., Manzanilla, E.G., Bindelle, J., Everaert, N., Beckers, Y., Torrallardona, D., Bruggeman, G., Gardiner, G.E. and Lawlor, P.G. (2017). Effect of feed enzymes on digestibility and growth in weaned pigs: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 233, p.145-159.

WA DPIRD. (2018). Western Australian lupin industry. https://www.agric.wa.gov.au/grains-researchdevelopment/western-australian-lupin-industry. Western Australia Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development

Watson, W.D., Reynolds, R.G., Collins, D.J. and Hunter, R.D. (1983). Agricultural water demand and issues – Water 2000: Consultants Report No.5. Department of Resources and Energy. Australian Government Publishing Service, Canberra

Wiedemann, S., McGahan, E. & Murphy, C. (2012). Energy, Water and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Australian Pork Supply Chains: A Life Cycle Assessment, Pork Co-operative Research Centre, Adelaide, SA.

Wiedemann, S., Henry, B., McGahan, E., Grant, T., Murphy, C. and Niethe, G. (2015). 'Resource Use and Greenhouse Gas Intensity of Australian Beef Production: 1981–2010', *Agricultural Systems*, 133, p. 109-118.

Wiedemann, S.G., McGahan, E.J. and Murphy, C.M. (2016a). Environmental impacts and resource use from Australian pork production assessed using life-cycle assessment. I. Greenhouse gas emissions. *Animal Production Science*, 56(9), p.1418-1431.

Wiedemann, S.G., McGahan, E.J. and Murphy, C.M. (2016b). Environmental impacts and resource use from Australian pork production determined using life cycle assessment. 2. Energy, water and land occupation. *Animal Production Science*, 140(2), p. 675-684.

Willis, S. (1999), September. The use of AUSPIG to predict the extent and economic value of feed wastage in Queensland piggeries. In Darling Downs pig science seminar 1999, proceedings of the third pig science seminar (Vol. 29).

Willis, S. (2003). The use of soybean meal and full fat soybean meal by the animal feed industry. In 12th Australian soybean conference. Soy Australia, Bundaberg.

Wondra, K.J., Hancock, J.D., Behnke, K.C., Hines, R.H. and Stark, C.R. (1995). Effects of particle size and pelleting on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, and stomach morphology in finishing pigs. Journal of animal science, 73(3), p.757-763.

Zhang, G.G., Yang, Z.B., Wang, Y., Yang, W.R. and Zhou, H.J. (2014). Effects of dietary supplementation of multi-enzyme on growth performance, nutrient digestibility, small intestinal

digestive enzyme activities, and large intestinal selected microbiota in weanling pigs. Journal of animal science, 92(5), p.2063-2069.